
“The foodbank gave   
me faith that there  
are people who  
understand and  
who you can trust.”

“People at the foodbank  
don’t judge you. I’m so  
grateful for all they do.”

“The foodbank was  
an absolute lifeline.”

Annual Report 
and Accounts
31 MArch 2016

It takes more  
than food to 
stop uk hunger
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It takes more 
than food to 
stop UK hunger

Introduction from the Chief Executive 

It’s been another busy year at The Trussell Trust as UK 
hunger and poverty continues to remain an issue, and 
I want to thank each one of you who have helped us to 
assist even more people facing hunger. 

Foodbanks continue to be a lifeline to people in crisis, 
with the foodbank movement showing that no-one needs 
to go hungry in the UK; that the communities we live in 
are kind-hearted, empathetic and willing to be generous. 

We were saddened to report that again over one million 
three-day emergency food supplies had been distributed 
across The Trussell Trust Foodbank Network during 
2015/16. 1,109,309 to be exact. It’s vital we don’t let this 
become the new normal. I won’t accept this level of need 
for crisis support  from foodbanks as becoming run-of-
the-mill. And I know you won’t either. 

The work of The Trussell Trust’s Foodbank Network 
and the sustained commitment from its volunteers has 
provided much-needed support for people in crisis; yet 
foodbanks cannot solve the problem of hunger alone. 

With this in mind we continue to look at increasing the 
depth and breadth of our work, preventing people from 
further crisis, with our More Than Food programme 
tackling the root causes of hunger by helping foodbanks 
to provide additional services to help people break the 
cycle of poverty. 

We also continue to ensure that hunger remains on the 
political agenda, and our first Westminster reception in 
October 2015 allowed foodbank clients to have a voice 
by telling their stories to Members of Parliament and 
the House of Lords. Charities can be part of the solution 
to stopping UK hunger, but they cannot be the sole 
solution. We need to keep focusing on helping people 
in crisis and building relationships with Governments to 
ensure the interest of those struggling with low incomes 
are looked after and kept on the agenda. 

Thank you for making it possible for us to help people 
find their own path out of poverty and become more 
resilient to the ups and downs of the economy. It’s the 
only long-term solution there is to stopping UK hunger 
and tackling poverty. 

Our Overseas team delivered a record number of 
presents to families in Eastern Europe during Christmas 
2015, and we supported a range of projects helping 
children and young people marginalised by poverty in 
that part of the world.

Our shop network and other social enterprises raised vital 
funds to support our work with the help of our fantastic 
volunteers.

It’s a pleasure to present to you some of the stories and 
highlights from the past year for The Trussell Trust. I’m 
proud to say that together we’ve helped thousands of 
individuals and families to rebuild their lives and escape 
the clutches of poverty. But there are still many more 
going to bed hungry and with your help we will continue 
reaching out to more people in crisis, transforming their 
lives and helping them on their journey out of food 
poverty. 

Thank you for your continued support, which means that 
no one struggling with hunger and poverty needs to face 
that challenge alone. You’re changing the lives and giving 
hope to people when they might otherwise have none.   
Together, we can stop UK hunger. 

Thank you for your support. 

David McAuley - Chief Executive
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Highlights 
of the Financial year

Last year was our busiest year yet as sadly foodbank use is at a record high. 
Thank you to everyone who helped us to be there for the thousands of people 
struggling with food poverty. These are some of the highlights that were 
particularly important to us.

APRIL 2015
Energy supplier npower announced the launch of a 
three-month trial of the nation’s first Fuel Bank™ in 
partnership with The Trussell Trust, National Energy 
Action and Durham Christian Partnership.   

MAY 2015
The Trussell Trust’s annual foodbank conference saw 
foodbank staff and volunteers come together for an 
inspiring day discussing ways to tackle UK hunger and 
poverty. 

The general election brought a new cohort of MPs, 
providing new opportunities for engagement with the 
government. 

JULY 2015
The sixth Neighbourhood Food Collection in partnership 
with The Trussell Trust, FareShare and Tesco saw a record 
number of 3.6 million meals collected. 

August 2015
The Trussell Trust’s overseas partner, The Foundation 
for Social Change and Inclusion (FSCI), ran their annual 
summer camp in Bulgaria, providing 40 vulnerable 
children with a holiday to remember. 

September 2015
The Trussell Trust was delighted to be the official charity 
partner of food and music festival OnBlackheath for the 
second year in a row. 

Parliamentary Reception FSCI Summer Camp

Launch of Brent Foodbank

Official Charity Partner at OnBlackheath
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BBC Scotland’s documentary ‘The Food Bank: Scotland’s 
Hidden Hunger’ gave a frontline view on food poverty in 
Dundee by giving an insight into the range of people at 
Dundee Foodbank – Scotland’s busiest foodbank. 

October 2015  
The Trussell Trust held their first parliamentary reception, 
inviting foodbank clients to have a voice in parliament 
by telling their stories to an audience of MPs. Foodbanks 
were connected with their local MPs and Martin 
Lewis kindly spoke in support of the More Than Food 
programme.

The 50 life-sized decorated sculptures from the Salisbury 
and Lincoln public art trail The Barons’ Charter were 
auctioned in aid of The Trussell Trust. 

Martin Lewis donated a personal £500,000 to The Trussell 
Trust’s More Than Food programme, enabling the Money 
Life financial triage and debt advice service to be rolled 
out to more foodbanks.  

November 2015
The Trussell Trust opened a community shop in 
Ringwood, Hampshire. 

December 2015
The Big Lottery Fund awarded £748,243 to support The 
Trussell Trust’s More Than Food programme.

Incredible public generosity was highlighted during the 
seventh Neighbourhood Food Collection in partnership 
with The Trussell Trust, Tesco and FareShare, as 3.7 million 
meals were collected during the three-day event. 

There was overwhelming support for The Trussell Trust’s 
Christmas appeal, helping to raise over £22,000 of vital 
funds. 

A record-breaking 10,078 shoeboxes were donated by 
schools, churches, businesses, community groups and 
individuals to our 2015 overseas Christmas Box appeal. 

January 2016
Coventry Foodbank merged with The Trussell Trust to 
establish a regional distribution and training centre. 

February 2016 
The official launch of Brent Foodbank took place, 
celebrating their move into their first permanent home. 

The Trussell Trust’s Lent appeal saw supporters rise to the 
challenge of donating 40p for 40 days raising over £3,000. 

The Trussell Trust website had a re-design, with updates 
to the 424 individual foodbank sites. 

The Trussell Trust launched the Opinion Team, making it 
easy for supporters to give feedback to help improve the 
charity’s services and develop new ideas. 

Foodbank clients received the chance to share their first-
hand experience of poverty at Scotland’s annual charity 
conference ‘The Gathering’.  

MARCH 2016
The issue of “tampon tax” in the news reinforced the 
importance of toiletry items for foodbank clients, leading 
to a surge in donations across the Foodbank Network. 

Record Christmas Box AppealBarons’ Charter New Community shop, Ringwood Neighbourhood Food Collection
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why we’re needed

Today in the UK there are families struggling to put food 
on the table and are going hungry. 

For people on low incomes a sudden crisis – illness, 
benefit delay or an unexpected bill – can push their 
finances over the edge, meaning there is nothing left to 
pay for groceries. 

We are here to help anyone who is facing hunger 
because of a crisis - for the parents skipping meals so 
their children can eat, for the tenant forced to go hungry 
just to pay the rent, for the elderly person making the 
stark choice between heating or eating.

Foodbanks provide three-days’ emergency food and 
practical support to help people cope in a crisis, as well 
as giving advice and signposting to other agencies able 
to solve the longer-term problem. We recognise that 
stopping hunger is about More Than Food, which is why 
we continue to look at increasing the depth and breadth 
of our work. We’re developing services to prevent people 
from reaching further crisis by helping them recover, 
rebuild their lives and break the cycle of poverty. 

ABOUT us

People in the UK are going hungry. We can’t sit by and let that happen. 

The Trussell Trust runs a network of 424 foodbanks, giving three-days’ 
emergency food and support to people in crisis across the UK, where thirteen 
million people live below the poverty line. 

The story so far

Paddy and Carol Henderson founded The Trussell 
Trust in 1997 using a legacy left by Carol’s mother, 
Betty Trussell. 

Moved to help forgotten people, The Trussell Trust’s 
initial projects focused on helping orphaned and 
abandoned children in Bulgaria. However, when 
Paddy received a call from a desperate mother in 
Salisbury saying her children were going to bed 
hungry he began investigating the problem of hidden 
hunger in the UK. 

Shocked to discover the significant numbers of 
local people facing short term hunger as a result of 
a sudden crisis Paddy started Salisbury Foodbank 
from his garden shed in 2000. Four years later 
the Foodbank Network was launched, supporting 
communities and churches nationwide to set up their 
own foodbanks to support local people in crisis. 

This has now grown to include 424 foodbanks; all part 
of the movement that is helping the many people 
affected by hunger and poverty in our society. 

Betty Trussell Paddy and baby Boris Salisbury Foodbank in 2000 operating from Paddy’s garden shed
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Since the opening of the first foodbank in 2000, sadly 
hunger and poverty in the UK continues to be an issue 
with foodbank use at a record high as over one million 
three-day emergency food supplies were given to people 
in crisis during 2015/16. 

However, we understand that it will take more than 
food to stop UK hunger. This is why we are supporting 
the Foodbank Network to develop our More Than Food 
programme, offering additional services to tackle the 
root causes of hunger and help people break the cycle of 
poverty. 

As well as the foodbanks, The Trussell Trust has launched 
several practical and innovative projects in partnerships 
with local communities since its foundation in 1997. 
We run a range of social enterprise projects including 
our community shops, helping to provide vital funds 
as well as volunteering opportunities for people of all 
backgrounds and abilities.

The important overseas work that Paddy and Carol 
started in Bulgaria is now being continued by our 
international partner FSCI, helping to break the cycle of 
poverty in the Balkans and Eastern Europe. 

Our ambition 

Our vision is to end hunger and poverty in the UK.

Our mission is to bring communities together to 
end hunger and poverty in the UK by providing 
compassionate, practical help whilst challenging 
injustice.

The Trussell Trust is a charity founded on Christian 
principles. We work with people of all faiths and none, 
but are inspired to do what we do by the words of Jesus 
in Matthew 25: 35 – 36:

“For I was hungry and you gave me 
something to eat, I was thirsty and you 
gave me something to drink, I was a 
stranger and you invited me in, I needed 
clothes and you clothed me, I was sick 
and you looked after me, I was in prison 
and you came to visit me.”
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Financial Summary 2015-16

Donations
Donations from individuals and organisations, 
including churches, community groups and 
businesses but excluding grant making trusts.

Shop income
Income from The Trussell Trust’s network of 
community shops generated from the sale of 
donated and upcycled goods.

Tesco top up 
The Trussell Trust, FareShare and Tesco Stores 
Ltd have partnered to operate bi-annual 
nationwide Neighbourhood Food Collections. 
As part of this partnership, Tesco “tops up” 
customers’ donations with a financial donation 
linked to the weight of food collected.

Grants 
Amounts awarded to The Trussell Trust by grant 
funders, usually for use by a specific project or for a 
specific purpose.

Gift aid 
Amounts received from HM Revenue and Customs 
in accordance with the gift aid scheme, both on 
individual financial donations and also through the 
retail gift aid scheme operating in our shops.

Other social enterprise 
This is all other income from social enterprise apart 
from our shops and includes sales of donated goods 
online. This includes income from projects such as 
salvaged textiles, metals and other materials.

Foodbank franchise fees 
Income from foodbanks for being part of The 
Trussell Trust Foodbank Network.

Donated food and goods 
The value of items donated to The Trussell Trust which 
are to be given away to individuals or other charitable 
organisations (such as foodbanks in our network).

2016 2015
Total funds Total funds

£ £
Incoming Resources
Incoming resources from generated funds

Donations and legacies 4,431,059 5,219,042

Other trading activities 1,508,699 937,617

Investment income 5,214 3,675

Incoming resources from charitable activities 833,538 678,612

Total incoming resources 6,778,510 6,838,946

Resources Expended
Costs of generating funds

Raising donations and legacies 727,279 448,096

Other trading activities 791,949 618,173

Charitable activities 5,230,169 5,217,495

Total resources expended 6,749,397 6,283,764

Net Incoming Resources Before Transfers 29,113 555,182

Gains / (losses) on investment assets (3,970) 3,124

Net movement in funds 25,143 558,306

Reconciliation of Funds
Total funds brought forward 1,511,081 952,775

Total Funds Carried Forward 1,536,224 1,511,081

Statement of financial activities 
for the year ended 31 March 2016
(Incorporating an income and expenditure account)

The information for the pie charts on page 8 and 9 is taken from the Statement of Financial Activities and supporting notes 
to the accounts which can be found in the detailed financial statements. 

Percentages have been rounded to nearest whole percent.

Fundraising events
This includes income from events, principally 
The Barons’ Charter event held in Salisbury 
during the year.

2%

34%

13%

22%

4%
3%

5%

1%

Income
£6.78m

16%
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2016 2015
Total funds Total funds

£ £
Incoming Resources
Incoming resources from generated funds

Donations and legacies 4,431,059 5,219,042

Other trading activities 1,508,699 937,617

Investment income 5,214 3,675

Incoming resources from charitable activities 833,538 678,612

Total incoming resources 6,778,510 6,838,946

Resources Expended
Costs of generating funds

Raising donations and legacies 727,279 448,096

Other trading activities 791,949 618,173

Charitable activities 5,230,169 5,217,495

Total resources expended 6,749,397 6,283,764

Net Incoming Resources Before Transfers 29,113 555,182

Gains / (losses) on investment assets (3,970) 3,124

Net movement in funds 25,143 558,306

Reconciliation of Funds
Total funds brought forward 1,511,081 952,775

Total Funds Carried Forward 1,536,224 1,511,081

Statement of financial activities 
for the year ended 31 March 2016
(Incorporating an income and expenditure account)

Foodbank 
This is the project cost of running the Foodbank 
Network and also Salisbury, Brent and Coventry 
foodbanks, which The Trussell Trust operates as  
demonstration projects.

Fundraising trading 
This is the cost of operating The Trussell Trust’s 
network of community shops.

Tesco top up 
After a small percentage is retained to cover our 
direct costs, the top up money  is then distributed, 
proportionate to the weight of food collected, to 
participating foodbanks. 

Social enterprise 
This is the cost of all aspects of social enterprise 
aside from the shops, primarily based around the 
hub warehouse in Salisbury.

Overseas project 
This is the cost that The Trussell Trust incurs in 
the support of work in Bulgaria, including grant 
funding to our partner Bulgarian charity, the 
Foundation for Social Change and Inclusion (FSCI). 

Costs of generating voluntary 
income
This is the cost of fundraising.

Donated food and goods 
The value of items donated to The Trussell Trust which 
were given away to individuals or other charitable 
organisations (such as foodbanks in our network).

Volunteer project
This is the cost of operating a structured 
volunteering programme.

More Than Food project grants
This is the value of grants from the The Trussell 
Trust to some members of the Foodbank Network 
to support More Than Food activities

Other donations 
This is the value of other donations passed 
from The Trussell Trust to some members of the 
Foodbank Network as instructed by donors. 

Expenditure
£6.75m

30%

12%

21%14%

5%

11%

3%

2%

1%
1%

Percentages have been rounded to nearest whole percent.
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The Foodbank Network 

In 2004, the Foodbank Network was launched, a social franchise partnering with 
churches and communities nationwide to open foodbanks within the framework  
of a network operated by The Trussell Trust. 

Number of three-day emergency food 
supplies given to people in crisis.

Apr 2014 - Apr 2015

Apr 2015 - Apr 2016

1,109,309

By 31 March 2016, The Trussell Trust had supported 
the launch of 424 foodbanks, operating around 1,300 
foodbank centres in the UK. During 2015/16, the 
Foodbank Network distributed 1,109,309 three-day 
emergency food supplies to people in crisis in the UK, 
with 415,866 of those having gone to children. This 
was a 2 percent increase when compared to the figures 
from the previous year, when we first crossed the one 
million mark. The majority of regions saw foodbank use 
remain at record levels, and the biggest increases were 
in Northern Ireland (48 percent increase on 2014/15), 
Scotland (14 percent increase) and the East Midlands (13 
percent increase).

10,570 tonnes of 
food donated

40,000 
volunteers

1,109,309 
food supplies

424  
foodbanks

Under 20,000

20,000 - 40,000

40,000 - 60,000

60,000 - 80,000

80,000 - 100,000

100,000 - 120,000

120,000 - 140,000

140,000 - 160,000

over 160,00065,059
Yorkshire 
& Humberside

25,755
Northern Ireland

76,336
North East

102,873
East

110,364
London

99,586
South West 97,216

South East

103,723
West Midlands

48,967
East Midlands

133,726
Scotland

Number of 3 day 
emergency food 
supplies given by 

Trussell Trust 
foodbanks in 

2015-2016

Regional breakdown

160,048
North West

85,656
Wales
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Top five reasons for referral 
to Trussell Trust foodbanks 
in 2015-2016

27.95%

23.31%

13.50%

5.10%

6.75%

Benefit
Delays

Low
Income

Benefit 
Changes

Debt

Homeless

Benefit delays and changes remained the biggest cause 
of foodbank use, accounting for 42 percent of all referrals 
to foodbanks during 2015/16, a slight reduction on last 
year’s 44 percent, whilst low income rose as a referral 
cause from 22 percent to 23 percent. 

For the first time, The Trussell Trust partnered with data 
scientists, business model specialists and academics to 
create the UK’s first foodbank data mapping tool. Early 
findings from The Mapping Hunger Report from the 
University of Hull, Coppelia and AAM Associates suggested 
that foodbank use is highest in areas where there are 
more people who are unable to work due to long term 
sickness or disability or in skilled, manual work. 

How a Trussell Trust 
foodbank works
Step 1 >
Food is donated
Non-perishable food is 
donated by schools, churches, 
businesses and individuals.

Step 2 >
FOOD IS SORTED 
AND stored
Volunteers sort food to check 
that it is in date and store it, ready 
to be given to people in need 
when they visit the foodbank.

Step 3 >
PROFESSIONALS 
IDENTIFY PEOPLE 
IN NEED
Foodbanks partner with a wide 
range of care professionals such 
as doctors, health visitors, social 
workers and police to identify 
people in crisis and issue them 
with a foodbank voucher.

Step 4 >
CLIENTS RECEIVE 
FOOD and further 
support
Clients bring their voucher to a 
foodbank centre where it can 
be redeemed for three-days’ 
emergency food. Volunteers take the time to listen to clients 
over a hot drink and signpost people to agencies able to 
solve the longer-term problem.
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Sarah’s Story
“We did not know where our next 
meal was going to come from and 
we were really struggling.” 
When Sarah’s partner moved in it should have been a 
happy time for them. Instead, informing the council 
of this change to their circumstances resulted in a 
two-month delay to their benefits, leaving them in a 
desperate situation.  

“As a parent, to not know if you’re going to be able 
to feed your children is shameful and degrading,” 
explains the 35-year-old, mother-of-two. “We didn’t 
know where our next meal was going to come from 
at that time and we were really struggling.”

It was whilst they were at their local housing 
association discussing their struggles to pay their 
rent due to this benefits postponement that they 
were referred to their local foodbank: “Knowing 
the foodbank is there puts your mind at rest a 
bit; knowing you can go there and get support is 
brilliant.”

While the family were glad that the foodbank was 
there to support them during this difficult time, Sarah 
admits it was a stressful experience: “It was very 
worrying. It’s scary as a parent as you don’t feel as if 
you’re doing your job properly. You want to be able 
to support your children in every way and that’s not 
possible when things like this happen.”

And her six-year-old daughter, Frankie is aware that 
hunger in the UK is an issue: “Every night I pray for 
poor people to have food because I care about them.” 

Sarah certainly didn’t expect a simple change in 
circumstances to have such a big effect on her life: 
“Living together as a couple and both working, I 
never thought would be so difficult,” she admits. “I 
thought it would make our lives easier and we would 
be better off, but we ended up really not in a good 
situation at all.”

But despite their struggle so far, Sarah is holding 
out hope for a brighter future: “We’re worse off 
financially but obviously we’re better off emotionally 
and as a family we’re a lot happier.”
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Richard’s Story
“I’ve worked all my life and never 
thought I’d be in the situation 
where I’d need a foodbank.”
Richard, 49, had always considered himself fit and 
healthy. However, when a chest infection quickly 
developed into a heart condition and he suffered from 
two major strokes followed by 19 mini strokes, he was 
left unable to work. 

Richard’s situation deteriorated further when he 
separated from his wife and moved out of their family 
home. This change of address led to his Employment 
Support Allowance (ESA) being delayed, and travelling 
to collect his prescriptions left him without enough 
money for food. Richard is grateful that the foodbank 
was there to help.

Foodbanks currently partner with over 30,000 social 
services such as doctors, children’s centres, housing 
associations and social workers, which identify people in 
crisis and issue them with a foodbank voucher. During the 
last year over 40,000 volunteers helped at foodbanks and 
the UK public donated 10,570 tonnes of food. 

Growth of the Foodbank Network has been dramatic and 
sustained, as has the demand of the services of foodbanks, 
demonstrating that the franchise model is effective and 
that the foodbank concept is scalable and sustainable. 

23
Yorkshire 
& Humberside

22
Northern Ireland

9
North East

42
East

37
London

44
South West

49
South East

41
West 
Midlands

29
East Midlands

50
Scotland

Number of  
foodbanks in the 
network 2015-2016

Regional breakdown

35
Wales

43
North West
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Marcella’s Story
“The foodbank gave me faith that there 
are people who understand and who you 
can trust.” 

Trained veterinary nurse, Marcella, 32, has suffered with a 
chronic spinal condition for nine years. When her health 
deteriorated and she had to undergo a spinal operation, 
she was forced to stop working. 

When her benefit support was suddenly switched to 
Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) and the payment that she 
so desperately relied on was delayed, she found herself 
turning to the foodbank for help. Fortunately, they were 
able to help Marcella through this difficult time, and also 
signposted her to another agency, who have been able to 
provide her with a social worker for some extra support. 

Since 2012, The Trussell Trust along with FareShare 
has partnered with Tesco Stores Limited for national 
Neighbourhood Food Collections at Tesco stores. As part 
of this partnership, Tesco makes a generous financial 
donation to the charities involved, for which The Trussell 
Trust extends its sincere thanks. During the financial year, 
this amounted to £1.51 million, of which The Trussell 
Trust passed on £1.44 million to member organisations 
of its Foodbank Network. 

Bab’s Story
“It’s part of a great big jigsaw of my recovery.”

Although diagnosed with bipolar disorder 40 years ago, Babs, 56, had always managed 
to work, while raising her two sons alone. However, when her health deteriorated and 
she suffered a mental health crisis she was advised to stop working permanently.  

When the wait for her Employment Support Allowance (ESA) was longer than 
anticipated and all her remaining money went towards paying the bills, Babs was 
referred to the foodbank, where she was grateful for the support she received: “The 
volunteers were incredible, non-judgemental and caring. I had a cup of tea and went 
away feeling much better than I did when I walked in.”

Foodbanks are keen to address the immediate crisis 
through provision of food, but they recognise that there 
are many complex issues that lead people to the point 
where they are unable to put food on the table.

This is why foodbanks are increasingly moving from 
crisis intervention to crisis prevention, which The 
Trussell Trust is committed to supporting through the 
More Than Food programme. 



The Trussell Trust16

Introduction
The Trussell Trust’s More Than Food programme is able to 
identify good practice and develop scalable interventions 
that can be shared across the Foodbank Network. 

A project based approach is used to consider an issue 
that contributes to poverty. This is followed by scoping 
out and testing useful approaches to address that 
issue, before using the results to produce good practice 
guidelines, operating manuals, training and other 
resources that are offered across the Foodbank Network. 

In December 2015, The Trussell Trust was awarded  
£748,243 from the Big Lottery Fund which will be 
received in quarterly tranches from April 2016. The 
funding will allow the charity to expand the More Than 
Food programme through the network of foodbanks 
across England. It will also be used to commission a 
comprehensive external evaluation of the programme, 
which will be undertaken by Sheffield Hallam University 
over the next two years. 

As part of this More Than Food programme, The Trussell 
Trust is currently developing initiatives dealing with debt 
and money advice, a budget cookery course, school 
holiday clubs, fuel and energy banks, and legal advice. 

More Than Food

In 2014, The Trussell Trust launched its vision to equip foodbanks to offer 
More Than Food, a programme that seeks to address the underlying causes of 
poverty that foodbank clients experience. Over the last year, The Trussell Trust 
has been widening its services, preventing people from reaching further crisis 
and helping them break the cycle of poverty. 

Money Life
In partnership with Martin Lewis, Money Saving Expert, 
The Trussell Trust ran a pilot project placing debt 
advisors in eight foodbanks for six months, which 
ended in July 2015. This offered immediate access 
to household budgeting and money advice in the 
foodbank centre to clients identified as most in need of 
debt advice. From the results of this six-month pilot,  
732 clients were helped and 50 percent were still 
engaged with the debt advice process two months after 
referral, while 40 percent had resolved their problem 
within that timescale. 

“Before I met the advisor at the foodbank  
I was too scared to go to the advice centre 
as I felt like such a fool. It feels like a 
weight off my shoulder, they are helping me 
do a weekly budget, which I have never done 
before.” – client from Cardiff Foodbank

Following the success of the pilot study, in October 2015, 
Martin Lewis provided a personal £500,000 donation to 
extend this programme to more foodbanks across the 
network. 

So far 59 foodbanks have expressed an interest in the 
Money Life project. An operating manual has been 
developed to help train volunteers with the skills to 
identify clients in need of debt advice in order to link 
them directly to the help they need. 
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“Just having someone to sit 
and talk to, who’s got a bit 
of authority and knowledge 
about the situation can make 
a massive difference and 
that’s what More Than Food 
is all about.” – Martin Lewis

Eat Well Spend Less
The Trussell Trust has continued to develop the Eat Well 
Spend Less course, teaching people ways to improve 
their household budgeting and cookery skills in order 
to help make tight budgets stretch further. Over the past 
year 49 foodbanks were trained in the six-week course, 
enabling communities from all areas of the UK except 
Scotland to run Eat Well Spend Less courses. 

During 2015/16, 24 Eat Well Spend Less courses were 
run by 13 foodbanks, where 94 people attended. At least 
75 percent of participants reported an improvement in 
confidence, as well as saving an average of £13 a week as 
a result of attending the course.

After completing the course participants are asked if they feel 
more confident about tackling different aspects of cooking 
and budgeting. The response is overwhelmingly yes!

Cooking from Scratch: 94% 

Understanding the Food Groups: 81% 

Managing a Budget: 88% 

Understanding Credit: 82% 

Planning Meals: 89% 

Food Safety & Hygiene: 84%

Over the next year, The Trussell Trust will continue 
to focus on training more foodbanks to run Eat Well 
Spend Less courses, as well as exploring the possibility 
of enabling and equipping organisations outside the 
Foodbank Network to run this course.

Judith’s Story 
“The Eat Well Spend Less course  
has been a life saver” 

Struggling to make ends meet, single mother of two, 
Judith signed up to our Eat Well Spend Less course at 
her local foodbank. The course takes place over six 
sessions and is designed to enable healthy cooking on 
a budget. It helps builds confidence in the kitchen and 
demonstrates financial management techniques through 
a range of practical activities.

Since attending the course, Judith has managed to 
reduce her food bill and has gained more confidence in 
her ability: “It changed how I spent my money, now I am 
spending a third less on food as a result of the course.  
I am making big savings and I am using the money I am 
saving to pay off some of my other debts.”

She’s also been able to share these skills with her family: 
“My young son comes and helps me in the kitchen now, 
he is my little sous chef when I am preparing meals. I’m 
also now not buying cereal bars for my children as  
I learnt how to make my own here.” 

The course had a big impact on Judith and her family. She 
enjoyed it so much that she is now involved with helping 
to run the course: “I started volunteering because it was 
the natural thing to do. I wanted to support other people 
and give a little bit back.”

Without the course, Judith could still be struggling to 
buy essentials such as food for her family and, possibly, 
getting into even more debt. She may have even had to 
use the foodbank by now.
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Fuel Bank™
In April 2015, energy supplier npower announced the 
launch of a three-month trial of the nation’s first Fuel 
Bank™ scheme, in partnership with The Trussell Trust, 
National Energy Action and Durham Christian partnership. 

Research conducted by Citizens Advice found that one in 
every six homes that use a prepayment meter has self-
disconnected, meaning 1.62 million people went without 
electricity or gas in 2013/14. 

“Sometimes, behind these closed doors, no one 
really knows your tears and your frustrations. I 
had just started my new job but had to wait six 
weeks to get paid. I had no money at all and 
couldn’t afford to put the gas on. If it was winter 
I don’t know what I would do.  The fuel voucher 
meant I could top up my gas and electric.” 
- Maria

The trial was launched in summer 2015 in four areas 
(Kingston on Thames, Durham, Gloucestershire and the 
Wirral). It supports households using prepayment meters 
by supplying them with a voucher providing around two 
weeks’ worth of gas or electricity, whether they are an 
npower customer or use another energy supplier. People 
can visit a participating foodbank and receive a credit of 
£30 (increasing to £49 in the winter months) to top up 
their gas and electricity meter. 

In the past year, the scheme has issued 7,014 vouchers in 
those four areas, providing essential support to 15,828 
people, including 6,291 children. Following the success 
of the pilot, npower has committed at least £2.25 million 
to this initiative until March 2018, with it set to be rolled 
out to 10 new areas in 2016, including the first Welsh and 
Scottish foodbanks. 

Energy Bank 
A survey of nearly 75 percent of the Foodbank Network 
revealed that 91 percent are interested in running an 
energy related initiative in the foodbank, seeing a need 
for this sort of assistance in their community.

In November 2015, The Trussell Trust secured a grant 
from the British Gas Energy Trust to begin the initial 
research phase of the Energy Bank project, which is 
exploring and addressing fuel poverty issues.

In March 2016, a coordinator was appointed to progress 
this work by continuing the research and running 
pilot studies, leading to trialling the development of 
foodbanks into energy and utility support hubs.   

 

Areas Number of distribution 
centres in each area

Current
locations

Durham 28

Gloucester 1

Kingston 4

Wirral 15

New 
locations

Kingfisher 2

B30 1

Smethwick 2

Sheffield 3

Hull 2

Hastings 1

Glossop 1

Brent 1

Glasgow SE 3

Cardiff 7

“I found myself struggling really hard to keep 
a warm home for me and my son... the place is 
so cold. We’re going to local libraries and to 
friends’ houses just to keep warm.” 
Foodbank client

7,014 vouchers  
issued

1,620,000 
without fuel
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Holiday Clubs
In July 2015, The Trussell Trust began its research and 
scoping phase for the Holiday Clubs project. The initiative 
is helping to relieve the financial pressure many families 
face during the school holidays, tackling hunger and 
isolation issues by offering a safe haven that provides 
food, fun activities, learning and support. 

Good practice guidelines were developed and the 
project was piloted in five foodbanks during the Easter 
Holidays, and evaluated through a qualitative study by 
Northumbria University. During 2016/17 work includes 
the completion of the project manual and online training 
platform, and a larger pilot study at 21 foodbanks.

Welfare support
The Trussell Trust has been working closely with Turn2Us, 
training foodbank volunteers in the use of their online 
benefits calculator and grant search tools on their 
website in order to offer that help to clients at foodbank 
centres. 

Legal advice  
The Trussell Trust has been researching ways of 
addressing the provision of free and good quality 
legal advice for certain sectors of the community, 
something that has been restricted over recent years. 
So far, a mechanism has been produced for identifying 
clients in need of legal advice and connecting them to 
that support, with further research and a pilot study 
scheduled to take place next year.

Future plans 
Over the next year The Trussell Trust will continue 
to develop and extend the More Than Food projects 
available to the Foodbank Network, addressing the root 
causes of hunger to help people break out of the cycle 
of poverty. 

“It’s expensive trying to get out and do things 
with the children, and when they’re at home 
you’re feeding them more than when they 
would be at school having a free school meal.” 
Susan, mother-of-five
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Salisbury Foodbank 
 
The charity operates Salisbury Foodbank as a 
demonstration project and continues to support large 
numbers of people in the Salisbury area.  
 
During 2015/16, Salisbury Foodbank provided 3,075 
three-day emergency food supplies to people (2014/15: 
4,031), with 1,050 of those having gone to children 
(2014/15: 1,566). There was a slight decrease in the 
number of food supplies issued but this may be due to 
agencies facing closure following cutbacks. To address 
this concern Salisbury Foodbank is meeting with other 
agencies and neighbouring services to expand the 
referral opportunities for people in crisis.   
 
The generous public donated an incredible 57.9 tonnes 
of food over the year (2014/15: 55.7 tonnes) and the 
foodbank gave out 59.4 tonnes of food (2014/15: 51.2 
tonnes). This included donations from 335 organisations 
and groups, of which over 100 were churches. The 
two Neighbourhood Food Collections in July 2015 
and December 2015 saw a total of 5.7 tonnes of food 
collected, and collections during the Harvest Festival 
period raised 10.3 tonnes of food.  
 
In December 2015, 216 Christmas hampers, including 
fresh turkeys were delivered to clients in Salisbury and 
the surrounding areas.  
 
A new foodbank manager took up post in January 2016. 
Over the next year, processes are underway to open 
a foodbank centre in Bemerton Heath and Amesbury, 
with a soft relaunch planned for the Barrington 
foodbank centre. Engagement in the More Than Food 
programmes is also expected to increase, with plans 
to deliver Holiday Clubs in the Easter and summer 
holidays, as well as an Eat Well Spend Less course in 
summer 2016.  

Brent Foodbank 
 
The Trussell Trust has run Brent Foodbank since September 
2014 as a showcase project in The Trussell Trust’s 
Foodbank Network in London.  
 
During 2015/16, Brent Foodbank provided 2,075 three-
day emergency food supplies to people (2014/15: 1,925) 
with 675 of those going to children (2014/15: 606). The 
foodbank collected 23.7 tonnes of food from the public 
(2014/15: 22 tonnes) and gave out 22.8 tonnes (2014/15: 
17.5 tonnes). A total of 8.3 tonnes of food was collected 
from the two Neighbourhood Food Collections in July 
2015 and December 2015. 

In June 2015, Brent Foodbank received their brand new 
van donated by IFCO, which has become an integral part 
of their work, helping them transport the donations they 
receive to make a greater impact in their community.  
 
Brent Council has provided a seven-year lease of The 
Vestry Hall, Neasden Lane. The space underwent 
complete renovation during summer 2015, which The 
Trussell Trust funded. The refurbishment of the derelict 
building was completed by September, and the kitchen 
(donated by Kingsway Kitchens) and shelving installation 
took place between October to December. 

The annual Christmas Eve lunch was a success, feeding 
more than 150 guests from the local community. A 
brilliant buffet was prepared by volunteers, characters 
from ‘Frozen’ entertained the children, and gifts were 
distributed to guests, all making it a memorable and 
festive event.  

In February 2016, Brent Foodbank had its official launch, 
celebrating their move into their first permanent home, 
with The Trussell Trust CEO and Chairman, Dawn Butler 
MP and Councillor Muhammed Butt all in attendance. 

Salisbury, Brent and 
Coventry Foodbanks

The Foodbank Network operates throughout the UK with Salisbury, 
Brent and Coventry Foodbanks directly operated by The Trussell Trust.  
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Later in the month, Brent Foodbank opened its second 
centre in Lindsay Park, extending the days of operation 
across the borough, as well as making the service 
accessible to more clients.  

As well as food, Brent Foodbank is currently able to offer 
coats and clothes to clients. They hope to be able to offer 
mother and baby packs, as well as FemCare packs for 
women in the year ahead.  
 
Now settled in its permanent home Brent Foodbank 
anticipates being able to offer a wide range of More Than 
Food services to clients over the next year. It is expected to: 
become part of the Fuel Bank™ scheme in partnership with 
npower; start running their Eat Well Spend Less course; 
start a fortnightly CAP job club for clients and begin holding 
monthly legal surgeries with a pro bono solicitor.  
 
 

Coventry Foodbank  
 
In January 2016, The Trussell Trust merged with Coventry 
Foodbank to establish a Regional Distribution Centre in 
Coventry. This merger will allow for the development 
of skills and knowledge through the region, whilst 
maintaining the existing service to the thousands of 
people who currently access the foodbank in Coventry.  
 
During the last year, 15,797 three-day emergency food 
supplies were provided to people in crisis (2014/15: 
18,568), with 6,708 of those having gone to children 
(2014/15: 8066). This is a 15 percent decrease in 
foodbank usage when compared to the previous year.  

Coventry Foodbank has partnered with Citizens Advice 
for the Restart Project, which offers direct access to 

advice services from seven foodbank centres. Since it 
began in January 2015, over 2,000 clients have used 
the service, with 10 percent of them going on to access 
further assistance. It is believed that the development of 
this additional service has contributed to the substantial 
decrease in the amount of food supplies given out 
in Coventry during 2015/16. The foodbank also runs 
Coventry Clothes Bank, providing good quality pre-loved 
clothes to people in crisis, and has clothed over 700 
clients during the past year.  
 
Engagement with the public continues to be very positive 
in Coventry with over 50 churches, 80 schools and 60 
different community groups all supporting the foodbank. 
Over the past year, Coventry Foodbank collected 136 
tonnes of food from the public (2014/15: 157.5 tonnes) 
and gave out 85.8 tonnes (2014/15: 84.9 tonnes), as 
well as providing food to other local organisations such 
as the refugee centre. The Harvest period saw over 60 
primary schools collect food for Coventry Foodbank and 
a partnership with the West Midlands Fire Service at 
Christmas enabled emergency food parcels to be stored 
in fire stations. The two Neighbourhood Food Collections 
in July 2015 and December 2015 saw a total amount of 
19.1 tonnes of food collected.   
 
Coventry Foodbank works closely with 337 frontline 
professional agencies and in October 2015 the foodbank 
opened a new distribution centre in Walsgrave, bringing 
the number of centres across the city to 17.  
 
The coming year will see the opening of the new 
Regional Distribution Centre in Coventry, with the 
warehouse offering racked food storage space, as well 
as office space. Coventry Foodbank also anticipates 
extending its More Than Food initiatives and developing 
new social enterprise schemes. 
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“It’s been a rocky ride, but the 
foodbank has helped me through it.” 
Jay’s Story
Painter and decorator Jay wanted to make a new start in 
life following a relationship breakdown. 

However, when the 40-year-old struggled to find work, 
he ended up sleeping outside shop doorways for some 
time, something that he never expected: “Considering 
that I’ve always done relatively well for myself, having 
worked most of my life and always had money to buy 
things, it was a massive shock.” 

Fortunately, when he was referred to his local foodbank, 
Jay was made to feel instantly very welcome. He explains: 
“The volunteers are very compassionate in what they do, 
they’ve always tried to help me in any way they could.” 

Jay was very grateful for the support he received in  
his time of crisis: “If it wasn’t for the foodbank I would 
have really suffered over the last couple of months. 
It’s been a rocky ride but the foodbank has helped me 
through it.”  

Not only was the foodbank able to help with food,  
but they also provided toiletry essentials and clothing, 
as well as supporting him with furniture when he 
moved into his flat. 

He said: “My situation has dramatically improved, with 
a lot of help from the foodbank and local charities.  
I just hope it can only get better.”
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During the financial year, the social enterprise department 
managed 14 retail shops and eight other non-retail 
social enterprise activities, which in total employed 57 
staff and involved more than 500 regular volunteers, as 
well as 50 supported volunteers. At least 250 meaningful 
conversations take place every week across The Trussell 
Trust’s shops and social enterprise projects. 

Social enterprise activities included: 

• recycling of textiles, plastics, cardboard, metals, 
bric-a-brac and books; 

• selling donated items through The Trussell Trust’s 
shops and local markets to generate income and 
establish the charity’s presence in the community; 

• restoring household furniture to sell in the shops 
and online; 

• electrical testing of donated portable appliances; 

• stripping the remaining wool from a local carpet 
factory’s spent bobbins to sell on for felt making; 

• multichannel retailing of donated books, 
collectables and other items online, primarily 
through eBay, Amazon, Music Magpie and Etsy;

• running a jewellery-making project for 
disadvantaged women in the Salisbury area; and 

• running a community gardening project with 
provision of an outdoor classroom for Woodlands 
Primary School. 

Income generated from all these activities for the year 
ended 31 March 2016 totalled £1.15 million including 
gift aid.

Social Enterprise

In the South of England, The Trussell Trust runs a range of social enterprise 
projects which provide valuable volunteering opportunities and raise 
valuable funds for our work.

Community Shops
The Trussell Trust’s community shops are another way to 
support the charity’s work but they are designed to do 
more than just raise funds. Each shop aims to become a 
hub of the local community, promoting the values and 
objectives of the charity, whilst generating much needed 
income to support our work. 

The shops do more than simply offer affordable goods 
for people on low incomes; they lend a sympathetic ear 
for people in emotional distress and create employment 
and volunteering opportunities for everyone (including 
people with care and support needs). They can also serve 
as a distribution point for emergency food available to 
people in crisis through a local foodbank. 

The Trussell Trust’s shops have continued to prove 
popular with local communities, selling high quality 
items at affordable prices. 

During the last year, 308 people volunteered at our 
shops, giving 17,280 hours of volunteering input. An 
estimated 200,000 customers visited our shops with 
approximately 500,000 items sold.
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Recycling project
The Trussell Trust’s recycling centre is central to the success 
of the community shops, whilst at the same time helping 
to reduce waste and prevent landfill. An estimated 250 
tonnes of household goods and clothes are saved from 
going to landfill every year, with 1,000 electrical items PAT 
tested, recycled and sold through our shops. 

Upcycling project 
The Trussell Trust has developed an upcycling project, 
giving unwanted goods a second life by creatively 
restoring them and selling them at low cost in our shops 
or online. This includes turning donated textiles into 
bunting; making tea cup candle gifts from discarded bone 
china tea cups and old candles; using donated plates to 
make cake stands and turning old cutlery into coat racks.

The Trussell Trust’s furniture shops also sell second-hand 
furniture carefully restored by a team of skilled staff and 
volunteers. This helps to raise vital funds, whilst providing 
an environmentally friendly alternative to throwing out 
unwanted quality furniture and household items.

In December 2015, The Trussell Trust relocated the 
Salisbury based furniture upcycling project to larger 
premises on Churchfields Industrial Estate. This new 
positioning next to our well-established and highly 
successful Salisbury furniture shop creates the ideal 
way of combining a shop and social enterprise project, 
which would be perfect for replicating in other areas. 

Online
The Trussell Trust has seen an increase in the public 
buying goods through our online outlets, with an 
income of £20,000 generated from online sales
including retail gift aid.

500,000
items sold

£20,000 from
online sales
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Foodbank
During 2015/16, 40,000 people volunteered at foodbanks 
across the country, helping to get emergency food to 
people in crisis and supporting them to get back on their 
feet. 

Volunteering 

Volunteers are the lifeblood of The Trussell Trust, an essential part in helping us to 
deliver all our key services. From giving out food to people in crisis at a foodbank 
centre to sorting clothes for our community shops, we could not operate without 
generous people giving up their time, which last year saw over 42,000 people 
volunteer with Trussell Trust projects. We value every contribution and welcome 
people of all abilities. 

Social Enterprise 
In the South of England, 892 people were involved with 
The Trussell Trust’s social enterprise projects and shops, 
giving 30,238 hours of their valuable time. This included 
308 shop volunteers across the 14 shops, providing an 
estimated 17,280 hours of support. 

A recent survey of 107 volunteers involved in social 
enterprise projects identified that volunteering at The 
Trussell Trust is just as beneficial to them as it is to us: 

•   84% are very happy when volunteering  
•   87% said it helped them feel valued and appreciated 
•   71% said volunteering helped them learn new skills 
•   68% said volunteering helped improve physical and  
     mental health 
•   66% said it helped improve motivation and reliability 
•   48% said volunteering helped give work experience  
     and improve job skills

The Trussell Trust was delighted to award 22 volunteers 
with certificates for providing five years of volunteering 
effort, and 11 volunteers were acknowledged for 
giving over ten years worth of their valuable time and 
commitment to support our work.  

Supported Volunteers 
The Trussell Trust’s supported volunteer programme 
provides work-related opportunities for people with 
care and support needs. In the last year, 50 supported 
volunteers worked with our social enterprise team across 
Wiltshire, Dorset and Hampshire. 

Peter, who’s been volunteering at the foodbank 
distribution centre and warehouse for two years, said: 

“I think if you spend a lifetime doing 
your own thing then at some point you 
have to try and put something back. The 
work is the work that needs to be done to 
help other people. Volunteering is a good 
relaxing way to enjoy a team experience. 
Here people can be themselves and work 
together to help others.”  
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Overseas projects
The annual shoebox appeal saw 451 people give up 
1,312 hours of their time to help sort Christmas presents, 
ready to be distributed to families across Eastern Europe. 
There was also the opportunity for volunteers to get 
involved in helping to deliver the annual summer camps.  

We are fortunate to have an abundance of volunteers 
from many backgrounds including former foodbank 
clients, parents, retired individuals, long-term 
unemployed, young people unemployed, ex-offenders, 
those on community service, as well as students, some of 
whom are working towards Duke of Edinburgh awards, 
and groups from churches, schools and businesses. This 
diversity creates a rich social environment, as well as 
contributing valuable skills and experience. 

As well as helping The Trussell Trust to deliver our vital 
services, volunteers are gaining opportunities to develop 
new skills and get into routines that can enhance 
employability and self-confidence. We have noticed a 
higher turnover of volunteers in the last year due to an 
increasing number of volunteers seeking and obtaining 
full time employment, using their time at The Trussell 
Trust as a stepping stone on their journey. 

During the next financial year, The Trussell Trust hopes 
this high level of volunteering involvement will continue, 
as More Than Food projects and social enterprise 
activities are expected to develop. We are truly blessed 
with the generosity of our volunteers. We endeavour to 
continue to provide a caring and social atmosphere for 
all of them, as well as being appreciative of the valuable 
time that they selflessly give to us. 

Sue, a full-time paediatric nurse uses her time 
off to volunteer at her local foodbank with her 
husband Steve. She specifically requests time off 
work to cover the three-day Neighbourhood Food 
Collection event in partnership with Tesco.  

“I love doing it. I have always had a 
heart for social action. Meeting people, 
telling them the important job the 
foodbank does, explaining to them how it 
works and who we help. So many people 
are just one wage packet from poverty and 
needing our input. I really love being able 
to give something back to the community. I 
make sure that I request the time off work 
so that I can give it the full commitment.” 

 Foodbank Network – 40,000 volunteers

Social enterprise – 584 volunteers – 12,958 hours

Shops – 308 volunteers – 17,280 hours  

Supported volunteers – 50

Overseas projects – 451 volunteers – 1,312 hours

Head office – 34 volunteers – 740 hours

Margaret’s story
“Volunteering a few hours is my drop in the ocean.” 
Retired modern languages teacher and street pastor, Margaret, 69, spends a few hours 
a week volunteering at one of our shops. She’s involved with labelling items and 
hanging up clothes, but admits that serving the customers is what she enjoys the most: 
“I’m happy to help out anywhere that they need, but I like the contact with the public. 
It’s good to get out of the house and get back into society.” 

Speaking about the impact of her volunteering, Margaret told us: “I’m only making a 
small contribution but if everyone does a little bit it can make a big difference, and who 
knows, I may even need to use a foodbank one day.”
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“Everyone just makes you feel so relaxed and comfortable. 
I love being here, I wouldn’t miss it for the world. 

You’d have to fight me off not to come here!”
- Jill, community shop volunteer
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them out and it feels good. It definitely gets you more used to the work 
atmosphere. I always struggled with working in the past and getting too 
stressed, so coming here is really good.” 
- Ash, social enterprise van volunteer



The Trussell Trust30

Raising funds and attracting 
support in a range of Activities  

Our main sources of charitable funding come from individuals and organisations, 
grants from charitable trusts and statutory funders, corporate partnerships and 
community fundraising. 

Our aim is to develop and maintain effective relationships 
with a variety of funders to ensure the sustainability of our 
projects across a range of income streams. 

The fundraising team also looks after relationships with 
supporters who give food and in-kind support to The 
Trussell Trust and the Foodbank Network ensuring that 
people in need get as much help as possible in their time 
of crisis.

In 2015/16, The Trussell Trust embarked on its first 
targeted supporter recruitment and development 
activities with some encouraging results from our first 
supporter appeal at Christmas, which raised over £22,000. 

We were blessed with the opportunity to hold a 
landmark fundraising event in the form of The Barons’ 
Charter Project. Held in Salisbury (the home of The 
Trussell Trust) and Lincoln, both Magna Carta cities, in 
the year of the 800th anniversary of Magna Carta, the 
event consisted of 25 Baron sculptures being displayed 
in the form of an art trail around each city. Widely 
supported by the local communities in both locations, 
the project raised a net profit of £171,000, with funds 
coming from corporate sponsorship and the auction of 
the Baron sculptures themselves. 

Our relationships with corporate partners continued to 
strengthen and form a core part of both our fundraising 
strategy and our work to attract support for the 
Foodbank Network through food collections and other 
in-kind support. Highlights of our corporate partnership 
activity in 2015/16 included;

• The Tesco Neighbourhood Food Collections which 
saw food donations being matched with a financial 
top up from Tesco of £1.51 million, the majority 
of which was redistributed directly to foodbanks. 
Tesco also donated £100,000 from the ‘Hat with  
a Heart’ Christmas initiative.

• Unilever supported our Eat Well Spend Less project 
and funded salaries for Regional Development 
Officers in the North England Region with a 
donation of £103,600.

• The npower Fuel Bank™ project began in 2015/16 
with a pilot scheme in 4 foodbanks. Through the 
course of the financial year, the scheme helped 
over 15,000 people experiencing fuel poverty who 
received a voucher to top up their energy meter. 
Additional funding from npower also helped to 
support the costs of running the scheme.

• Waitrose provided over 200 permanent food 
collection points in stores around the UK and 
raised over £8,000 to support our work.

• IFCO Systems Worldwide continued to donate 
significant numbers of crates (over 10,000!) 
to foodbanks to help with food collection and 
storage. They also met the purchase costs of a  
van to support Brent Foodbank.

• RBS gave a generous donation of £201,472.
 

The Barons’ Charter Auction Evening, Salisbury Cathedral 
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Across the UK, The Trussell Trust and the Foodbank 
Network were supported with financial and practical 
support from a range of key community organisations.

We are deeply grateful for the significant support 
extended to us by: 

• Rotary International in Great Britain & Ireland;
• Interact (Rotary);
• The Association of Inner Wheel Clubs in Great 

Britain & Ireland;
• Soroptimist International – Great Britain and 

Ireland;
• Lions Clubs International British Isles and Ireland 

MD105;
• The National Federation of Women’s Institutes; and 
• The Scout Association. 

During the financial year, we received two significant 
pledges of support for our More Than Food work in the 
form of:

• A grant of £748,243 from the Big Lottery; and 

• A donation of £500,000 from Martin Lewis (of 
Money Saving Expert) to develop a financial triage 
and debt advice project - ‘Money Life’. 

Eat Well Spend Less course Fuel voucher

Neighbourhood Food Collection The Barons’ Charter Project Martin Lewis (of Money Saving Expert) ‘Hat with a Heart’

Members of the community donating and helping collect food
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The Trussell Trust’s work that first began in Bulgaria in 
1997 has now grown to encompass the Balkans and 
Eastern Europe. Through our partner organisation, FSCI, 
we are helping to prevent children being abandoned and 
young people being forced into crime, prostitution and 
human trafficking.

FSCI works with local communities, churches and NGOs 
to run practical, sustainable projects, making sure people 
are treated as individuals not numbers.

Early Years Education 
A kindergarten programme tailored specifically for 
Roma communities; increasing access to education for 
marginalised children.

Social Enterprise 
Practical projects aimed at teaching vulnerable young 
people transferable skills that they can use to help them 
find, get and keep jobs. 

Humanitarian Projects
In summer 2015, The Trussell Trust maintained our 
commitment to the children of Lipnitsa Orphanage/
School, providing 40 vulnerable children with a beach 
holiday to remember. 

In December 2015, The Trussell Trust’s annual Christmas 
Box appeal was the most successful yet. A record-
breaking 10,078 shoeboxes were donated by schools, 
churches, businesses, community groups and individuals 
with 451 people giving up their time to help sort these 
presents. They were then distributed through Eastern 
Europe, with the help of FSCI, bringing great joy to many. 

our work Overseas

 
The Trussell Trust is working with our international partner, The Foundation 
for Social Change and Inclusion (FSCI) to break the cycle of poverty in the 
Balkans and Eastern Europe.

House of Opportunity 
A two-year residential training programme, offering 
state care leavers and other vulnerable young people a 
safe path to independent living, free from the threat of 
criminal exploitation and severe poverty. 

Maria’s story 
Maria (name changed for anonymity) grew up in a 
state-run child institution in Ruse, Bulgaria, with serious 
concerns about her future. However, thanks to the 
support of the House of Opportunity programme, she 
was able to attend university. She said: 

“House of Opportunity helped me realise how 
important education is for me. They were the 
reason I did not give up on university - they 
gave me hope, advice and time.”

Maria is now married with a son and only has one more 
year of studying before she becomes a qualified pre-
school teacher.
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House of Opportunity residents, 
Sofia, Bulgaria

Couple of boys with a Christmas box
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Ensuring hunger remains  
on the political agenda 

The Trussell Trust is an apolitical organisation but continues to work to engage 
politicians of all parties to highlight the problem of UK hunger, so that they 
can develop the policies that will help to prevent it. 

Raising awareness of 
UK Poverty
As foodbank use has increased year-on-year, there is an 
urgent need to understand the causes of a crisis that 
leaves someone unable to eat. 

All evidence suggests only a joint effort from charities, 
individuals, business and government can tackle poverty. 
The Trussell Trust believes that it is important to make 
both the public and politicians aware of the reality of UK 
hunger and the actions needed to reduce it. 

Policy work
The Trussell Trust continues to contribute to a growing 
body of evidence concerning the drivers of hunger and 
poverty, and how best to tackle them. 

Key aims include a series of changes to aspects of the 
Department of Work and Pension’s benefits policy, which 
evidence suggests would help reduce the number of 
crises resulting in someone being unable to eat.

The Trussell Trust worked with the UK’s devolved 
Government and in June 2015, the Welsh Government’s 
Poverty Inquiry report was launched from Blaenau Gwent 
Foodbank, calling on the Welsh government to set up a 
‘Welsh Poverty Reduction Alliance’. 

In Autumn 2015, The Trussell Trust submitted evidence 
to the Work and Pensions Select Committee Inquiry, and 
Feeding Britain’s one-year on report, helping to explore 
foodbank use and the scale of poverty in the UK. 

Research and 
Development
In February 2016, Oxford University researcher Rachel 
Loopstra embarked on a major study reviewing historical 
foodbank data from The Trussell Trust Network, 
exploring the reasons behind current foodbank use. 

general election 2015 
In the lead up to the May 2015 General Election, UK 
poverty and foodbank use remained high on the political 
agenda, and there were a particularly high number of 
requests from politicians to visit foodbanks. Jeremy 
Paxman’s first question to the Prime Minister in the TV 
debates was about foodbanks, with the Deputy Prime 
Minister agreeing with The Trussell Trust in the TV 
debates that the sanctions regime needed softening to 
help stem the rise in foodbank referrals. 

Engaging politicians 
The Trussell Trust continues to meet with MPs across 
England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. This is all 
part of a wider plan to build strong and positive relationships 
with politicians from all parties, to ensure policy-makers 
know about the difficulties that the people we help are 
facing, and what more could be done to resolve their 
problems

The Trussell Trust held fringe events at three party 
conferences during 2015. We engaged with several 
hundred political decision makers, journalists and third 
sector partners about the work of The Trussell Trust.  
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Inviting foodbank 
clients to have a 
voice 

Parliamentary Reception  
In October 2015, The Trussell Trust held their first 
Parliamentary Reception ‘Listening to the lives behind the 
foodbank statistics’. 

Foodbank manager Kyle shared how he set up the 
Glasgow North West Foodbank with his wife after being 
helped by a Trussell Trust foodbank. Dave, a former client 
of Dundee Foodbank explained the problems he faced 
having struggled with depression and benefits issues and 
how Dundee Foodbank helped him through a difficult 
time: “We’re not coming to foodbanks just to get food, 
we’re coming for help and advice. The foodbank gave 
me such confidence and hope – I felt I was actually worth 
something.”

The event also provided dozens of Trussell Trust 
foodbanks with the opportunity to connect with their 
local MPs, providing constructive conversations about 
working together to combat UK hunger and poverty. 

Martin Lewis, the Money Saving Expert, kindly spoke 
about the ground breaking money and debt advice 
work he has helped to fund, highlighting that: “We 
want to live in a society where there isn’t a need for 
foodbanks. You can be the best money saving expert 
in the world but if your income’s stopped there’s not 
much you can do.”

The Gathering 

In March 2016, people with experience of living with hunger 
and poverty also got the chance to share their stories at 
Scotland’s annual charity conference ‘The Gathering’. 

They heard from people like Shauna, who volunteers at 
the foodbank that helped her to secure her first tenancy, 
as well as a job: “The volunteers at the foodbank gave 
me the support I needed. Without their help I don’t 
know where I would be today.” 

  

Over the past year, national newspapers, TV news 
channels and radio stations have continued to cover 
the work of The Trussell Trust and the issue of UK food 
poverty. National media interest has also resulted in an 
increase in direct donations to the charity and greater 
support both from the public for their local foodbank 
and from corporate partners on a national level. 

In the year ahead, The Trussell Trust expects this high 
level of engagement with politicians to continue as we 
commit to sharing the experiences of people helped by 
foodbanks with governing administrations across the 
UK, and ensure political decision makers work with us to 
drastically reduce UK hunger and poverty.  

Shauna speaking at The Gathering
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Looking to the Future

To ensure that people in crisis get the help they need, it’s vital that we continue to 
deliver and develop our work. And it’s vital that we have funding in place to make 
that happen. 

In 2016/17 one of our main priorities is improving our 
service to foodbanks through the effective alignment of 
programme delivery and central support teams.
 
Our More Than Food programme will continue to roll 
out services to foodbanks across the UK; we will train 
a further 30 foodbanks to deliver our Eat Well Spend 
Less course, the Money Life project will see up to 40 
centres established across the network, the Holiday Clubs 
project – piloted in Spring 2016 - will be rolled out in 
the summer holidays and reach over 600 children and 
families in year one. We will continue to support the roll 
out of the Fuel Bank™ initiative and develop the Energy 
Bank to support clients with a range of energy issues.
 
Working with new partner organisations, we will look to 
deliver our More Than Food projects beyond the existing 
Foodbank Network, ensuring that people get the support 
they need before they get to the point of needing 
emergency food. We will also be looking at potential 
new routes for delivering emergency food and More 
Than Food services through Social Supermarkets.
 
We will research and investigate the best ways to develop 
new projects to broaden the range of additional services that 
clients are offered. This will include Welfare, Benefits and 
Housing advice, Legal advice and Employability support.

With the support of a major donor who is purchasing a 
building for the purpose, we shall start work setting up 
the Midlands Regional Distribution Centre in Coventry, 
providing a warehousing hub to support over 70 
foodbanks across the region.
 
We will continue to develop our political strategy, 
ensuring that we continue to be heard by policy makers 
on issues that affect people on low incomes and affected  
by poverty.

Our partner organisation, FSCI, will continue its work in 
the Balkans supporting marginalised children and young 
people, and we’ll be supporting their transition to financial 
independence from The Trussell Trust by March 2018.
 
Back in the UK, we continue to develop our infrastructure 
as an organisation that supports a national network of 
charities through projects including the introduction of 
a new Salesforce CRM system which will be integrated 
with our new finance software package. We will be 
developing a new fundraising strategy to be launched in 
2017/18 to see us through the next few years of growth 
and consolidation of existing activities. This strategy 
will see us develop new areas of fundraising that will 
increase our unrestricted income streams and focus on 
long term sustainability to support the organisation.
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The trustees have examined the requirements for free reserves and decided on a policy of three months’ essential 
operating costs which amounted to £0.398 million at 31 March 2016 (2015 £0.502 million - including Social Enterprise 
costs). 

Free reserves were as follows:

Reserves Policy 
And Reserves
Reserves are held in order to ensure The Trussell Trust can continue to deliver services to the charity’s beneficiaries. 
The charity carries out a variety of long term and short term projects - it is essential to consider what would happen if 
income was to fall considerably as the charity has committed to long term support of the Foodbank Network, the More 
Than Food programme, and overseas work in the Balkans and Eastern Europe.

Restricted funds - comprise funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions imposed by the donors of 
the funds. 

Unrestricted funds - comprise funds which are not restricted funds. 

Free reserves - comprise liquid reserves, being unrestricted funds less fixed assets, held in recognition of the risks and 
opportunities that may impact the operation of the charity in the short term.

The total reserves of the charity at 31 March 2016 were as follows:

2016 
£

2015
£

Unrestricted funds 1,047,090 1,009,451

Restricted funds 489,134 501,630
                                                                                                  

Total funds 1,536,224 1,511,081
                                                                                                  

2016 
£

2015
£

Unrestricted funds 1,047,090 1,009,451

Less: fixed assets 415,346 289,232
                                                                                                  

631,744 720,219
                                                                                                  

Three months’ essential operating costs were as follows: 398,000 502,000
                                                                                                

The charity’s reserves are partly held in the form of shares in UK quoted companies. The portfolio is managed by Messrs 
Charles Stanley, Stockbrokers and its value at 31 March 2016 was £71,330 (2015: £76,081). The balance of the reserves are 
held on cash deposit.

The trustees are satisfied that the level of free reserves (£631,744) is adequate. 
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Structure, Governance
and Management

Governing document

The Trussell Trust is a charitable company limited 
by guarantee, constituted under a trust deed dated 
12 January 1997 and transferred into the charitable 
company (5434524) on 19 September 2005 and is a 
registered charity, number 1110522. The company also 
registered as a charity in Scotland on 5th September 
2013, number SC044246. The company was established 
under a Memorandum of Association which established 
the objects and powers of the charitable company and is 
governed under its Articles of Association. In the event of 
the company being wound up, members are required to 
contribute an amount not exceeding £10.

Recruitment and appointment of 
new trustees

The directors of the company are also charity trustees for 
the purposes of charity law. At the balance sheet date 
the charity was managed by a board of seven trustees 
selected because they strongly endorse the charitable 
objectives of the organisation and support its Christian 
ethos. When selecting trustees, the charity aims to 
ensure there is a broad range of relevant skills.

Trustees are appointed after interviews with existing 
trustees and formal visits to the organisation, to ensure 
that they understand our vision and values. Trustees are 
subject to Disclosure and Barring Service checks where 
applicable.

Organisational structure

The charity has three principal areas of activity: 
community projects and social enterprise in South 
Wiltshire, Hampshire and Dorset; UK-wide social

franchising, most prominently the Foodbank Network; 
and community projects in Bulgaria. Each area has a 
manager responsible who reports to the Chief Executive 
Officer, a role created in January 2014. Trustees meet 
on a regular basis to set the vision, strategic framework 
and budgets under which the charity operates. The CEO 
manages the organisation on a day to day basis and 
reports to the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees 
was chaired during the year by Mr Chris Mould.

The trustees decide on all major new initiatives and are 
regularly updated on grants, budgets, public relations 
and fundraising campaigns. New initiatives are normally 
developed by project managers in consultation with 
the CEO and trustees where appropriate, supported 
by an assessment of project needs. Trustees receive 
regular financial updates which form the basis of the 
routine financial monitoring. The charity works to 
build a culture of transparency at all levels to ensure all 
stakeholders in the organisation are able to participate 
in its development. We listen to our client groups and 
many of the service delivery improvements come from 
our “customers”.

The CEO holds regular team meetings to monitor and 
control the organisation. Specific projects are managed 
through project boards where appropriate. Each project 
manager is also encouraged to contribute to monthly 
e-mail updates which are circulated to volunteers, staff 
and trustees.

As the activities of the charity have again grown rapidly 
the workload of the core staff team has increased. The 
charity has therefore taken action to increase staffing 
levels and to alter management reporting structures 
to ensure accountability is appropriately allocated as 
workload increases.
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Trustee induction and training
The Trussell Trust actively endorses training at all levels 
of the charity.  New trustees participate in an induction 
process that new staff would follow, to include spending 
time engaged with all the Trust’s projects, relevant 
information regarding health and safety and personal 
safety and role-related knowledge where applicable. 
New trustees are also given copies of relevant Charity 
Commission and OSCR literature, such as “CC3 The 
Essential Trustee” and “Guidance for Charity Trustees”. 
Trustees are encouraged to undertake development 
training where appropriate.

Risk Management
A risk register is used in association with risk assessments 
under the charity’s health and safety policy to manage 
risk. Risks addressed range from those associated with 
sources income, through continuity of service to matters 
such as personal security and lone working. Systems 
have been set in place to mitigate risk and where 
appropriate, staff have been instructed accordingly. 
The trustees continue to review major risks in the light 
of the substantial growth that the charity has recently 
experienced and changes to the risk register are 
discussed at each trustees’ meeting. 

The charity’s fundraising strategy and plans are regularly 
reviewed and updated. Such reviews ensure we fully 
diversify funding to mitigate the risk of over-dependence 
on one source of income. The charity’s public profile 
continues to develop with the expansion of the foodbank 
social franchise; it is difficult to gauge the effect of the 
economic climate on donated income, although support 
from charitable grant-giving trusts has been more 
challenging to secure. The staff team concentrated on a 
diverse portfolio of fundraising goals which included:

• the use of retail gift aid as part of the trustees’ 
strategy to increase the charity’s social enterprise 
income; 

• adding to the range of income-generating 
social enterprise activities, especially around 
restoring donated furniture to prepare it for sale 
and upcycling unsaleable donated goods into 
refurbished items;  

• investing further in specialist fundraising staff to 
develop specific initiatives; 

• media campaigns whose goals continue to 
include raising the profile of the charity’s activities 
nationally and recruiting new donors; and 

• expanding the donor base and encouraging more 
donors to make regular monthly contributions. 

Internal control risks are covered in the charity’s 
operating manuals. Topics include personal safety, health 
and safety, human resources, financial procedures, 
food receipt, storage and disposal. These operating 
procedures are regularly reviewed to ensure they meet 
changing legislation and the needs of the charity.
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Objectives and Aims

The charity’s Objects are to: “Relieve persons in the United Kingdom and 
elsewhere in the world who are in conditions of need, hardship or distress 
(beneficiaries) in such ways as the Trustees from time to time think fit.”

In delivering its Objects the charity is supported by 
a range of powers such as to undertake research, to 
provide advice and to acquire or hire property of any 
kind.

The trustees use these as the benchmark in deciding 
new policies or projects. Trustees employ a number of 
strategies to assist the charity to meet its Objects:

• ensuring wide community participation in the 
charity’s projects; 

• developing a culture of lifelong learning 
throughout the organisation in order to allow 
the trustees, core staff and volunteers to do their 
allotted jobs effectively;

• building strong links with the media, locally and 
nationally, and regularly updating the charity’s 
website in order to stimulate public awareness of 
the charity’s work and the issues facing people in 
poverty and distress;

• setting up social enterprises which add value to 
the charity’s existing projects by generating profits 
whilst also providing opportunities for volunteers 
to learn new skills;

• identifying, evaluating and incorporating best 
practice in project templates to ensure that 
projects become self-sustaining and are easy 
to replicate building links to businesses who 
understand our ethos and will employ our 
volunteers; and

• working closely with churches to help the Christian 
faith community to take a more active, practical 
and effective role in social action. 

Public Benefit

The trustees confirm that they have referred to the 
guidance contained in the Charity Commission’s general 
guidance on public benefit when reviewing the charity’s 
aims and objectives and in planning future activities. The 
trustees refer to public benefit throughout this report. 
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Financial 
Statement
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Reference and 
Administrative details
 
The trustees who are also directors of the charity for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006, present their report with 
the financial statements of the charity for the year ended 31 March 2016. The trustees have adopted the provisions of 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their 
accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) 
(effective 1 January 2015).

Registered Company number
05434524 (England and Wales)

Registered Charity number
1110522 (England and Wales), SC044246 (Scotland)

Registered office
Unit 9, Ashfield Trading Estate
Ashfield Road
Salisbury
Wiltshire
SP2 7HL

Trustees
Dr J A D Annis
Mr S R Key (resigned 17 September 2016)
Ms A M Inglis-Jones
Mrs S E Melville
Mr C P Mould (Chair of Trustees)
Mrs E C Osborne (resigned 8 November 2016)
Miss E A Pollard
Mr W M A Trinick (resigned 8 May 2015)

Company Secretary
Mrs C L Leeper

Chief executive officer
Mr D J McAuley

Bankers
Royal Bank of Scotland
14 Minster street
Salisbury
Wiltshire
SP1 1TP

Investment managers
Charles Stanley & Co Limited
1 Lanley Court
Pyle Street
Newport
Isle of Wight
PO30 1LA

Auditors
Morris Crocker Limited
Chartered Accountants
Statutory Auditors
Station House, North Street
Havant, Hampshire
PO9 1QU
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We have audited the financial statements of The Trussell Trust for the year ended 31 March 2016 on pages forty seven to 
seventy nine. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and the 
charitable company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees Responsibilities set out on page forty eight, the trustees (who are 
also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1) (c) of the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under the Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance with regulations 
made under those Acts.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the charitable company’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the trustees; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the 
financial and non-financial information in the Strategic Report and the Report of the Trustees to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. 
If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report.

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT 
AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF
THE TRUSSELL TRUST
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Notes

Unrestricted 
funds

£

Restricted 
funds 

£

2016
Total

funds 
£

2015
Total

funds 
£

INCOME FROM

Donations and legacies 2 2,366,676 2,064,383 4,431,059 5,219,042

Charitable activities 5

Foodbank 15,304 788,004 803,308 560,628

Overseas project - - - 77,984

Volunteer project - 15,000 15,000 -

Social Enterprise 15,230 - 15,230 40,000

Other trading activities 3 1,505,936 2,763 1,508,699 937,617

Investment income 4 5,214 - 5,214 3,675
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

Total 3,908,360 2,870,150 6,778,510 6,838,946
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

EXPENDITURE ON

Raising funds 6 1,496,486 22,742 1,519,228 1,066,269

Charitable activities 7

Foodbank 798,753 3,006,273 3,805,026 4,279,830

Overseas project 238,402 124,303 362,705 225,415

Volunteer project 33,893 47,295 81,188 64,295

Social Enterprise       970,988           10,262       981,250        647,955
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

Total 3,538,522  3,210,875 6,749,397 6,283,764
                                                                                                                                                                                                

Net gains/(losses) on investments         (3,970)                    -         (3,970)             3,124
                                                                                                                                                                                                

NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) 365,868 (340,725) 25,143 558,306

Transfers between funds 25     (328,229)        328,229                    -                     -
                                                                                                                                                                                                

Net movement in funds 37,639 (12,496) 25,143 558,306

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS

Total funds brought forward 1,009,451 501,630 1,511,081 952,775
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD 1,047,090 489,134 1,536,224 1,511,081
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
(INCORPORATING AN INCOME AND 
EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
All income and expenditure has arisen from continuing activities.

The notes form part of these financial statements
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Notes
2016 

£
2015

£

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets 15 17,280 25,920

Tangible assets 16 398,066 263,312

Investments 17 71,330 76,081
                                                                                                  

486,676 365,313
                                                                                                  

CURRENT ASSETS

Stocks 18 84,403 69,410

Debtors 19 182,285 384,369

Cash at bank 1,281,256 1,811,816
                                                                                                  

1,547,944 2,265,595

CREDITORS

Amounts falling due within one year 20 (293,724) (1,060,114)
                                                                                                  

1,254,220 1,205,481
                                                                                                  

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,740,896 1,570,794

CREDITORS

Amounts falling due after more than one year 21 (164,672) (29,713)

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES 23 (40,000) (30,000)

                                                                                                  

NET ASSETS 1,536,224 1,511,081
                                                                                                  

FUNDS 24

Unrestricted funds 1,047,090 1,009,451

Restricted funds 489,134 501,630
                                                                                                  

TOTAL FUNDS 1,536,224 1,511,081
                                                                                                  

BALANCE SHEET
AT 31 MARCH 2016

The notes form part of these financial statements
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Notes
2016 

£
2015

£

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash generated from (used in) operations 1 (302,284) 1,367,516

Interest paid (672) -
                                                                                                  

Net cash provided by (used in) 

operating activities (302,956) 1,367,516
                                                                                                  

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (231,854) (54,692)

Sale of tangible fixed assets 1,552 6,647

Interest and dividends received 5,214 3,675
                                                                                                  

Net cash provided by (used in)

investing activities (225,088) (44,370)
                                                                                                  

Cash flows from financing activities:

Capital repayments in year (2,516) (1,832)
                                                                                                  

Net cash provided by (used in) 

financing activities (2,516) (1,832)
                                                                                                  

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the

reporting period (530,560) 1,321,314

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning

of the reporting period 1,811,816 490,502
                                                                                                  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the

reporting period 1,281,256 1,811,816
                                                                                                  

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

The notes form part of these financial statements
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2016 
£

2015
£

Net income/(expenditure) for the reporting period (as per the

Statement of Financial Activities) 25,143 558,306

Adjustments for:

Depreciation charges 114,319 86,401

Losses/(gain) on investments 3,970 (3,124)

Loss/(profit) on disposal of fixed assets 650 (705)

Interest and dividends received (5,214) (3,675)

Interest paid 672 -

Movement in donated food stock (14,993) (38,401)

Decrease/(increase) in debtors 202,084 (148,715)

(Decrease)/increase in creditors (628,915) 917,429
                                                                                                  

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (302,284) 1,367,516
                                                                                                  

NOTES To The CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

1. RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) TO NET CASH FLOW 
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparing the financial statements

The financial statements of the charitable company, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared 
in accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102) ‘Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 
Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015)’, Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ and the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements 
have been prepared under the historical cost convention with the exception of investments which are included at market 
value, as modified by the revaluation of certain assets.

Income

All income is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities once the charity has entitlement to the funds, it is 
probable that the income will be received and the amount can be measured reliably. Such income is only deferred when:
 - the donor specifies that the grant or donation must only be used in future accounting periods; or 
 - the donor has imposed conditions which must be met before the charity has unconditional entitlement.  

Investment income is recognised on a receivable basis.

Income from charitable activities includes income received under contract or where entitlement to grant funding is 
subject to specific conditions is recognised as earned (as the related goods and services are provided). Grant income 
included in this category provides funding to support activities and is recognised where there is entitlement, probability 
of receipt and the amount can be measured reliably.

Volunteers and donated goods and services

The value of services provided by volunteers is not incorporated into these financial statements.

Where goods or services are provided to the charity as a donation that would normally be purchased from suppliers, this 
contribution is included in the financial statements at an estimate based on the value of the contribution to the charity.

Goods donated and held as stock for distribution by the charity, including food items donated to foodbanks, are 
recognised as incoming resources within voluntary income when received as stock, and an equivalent amount is included 
as resources expended when stock is distributed. 

Expenditure

Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation committing the charity to 
that expenditure, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of 
the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under 
headings that aggregate all cost related to the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular headings 
they have been allocated to activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. 

Grants offered subject to conditions which have not been met at the year end date are noted as a commitment but not 
accrued as expenditure.

Irrecoverable VAT

All resources expended are classified under activity headings that aggregate all costs related to the category. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged against the category of resources expended for which it was incurred. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Raising funds

Raising funds includes all expenditure incurred by the charity to raise funds for its charitable purposes and includes costs 
of all fundraising activities, events and non-charitable trading. 

Allocation and apportionment of costs

Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the charity but do not directly undertake charitable activities. 
The bases on which support costs have been allocated are set out in note 10. 

Tangible fixed assets

Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates in order to write off each asset over its estimated useful life or, if 
held under a finance lease, over the lease term, whichever is the shorter.

Short leasehold   - over the period of the lease
Fixtures and fittings - 15% on reducing balance
Motor vehicles  - 25% on reducing balance
Computer equipment  - 15% on reducing balance

Individual fixed assets costing £500 or more are capitalised at cost.

Stocks

Stock represents the value of items donated to the charity for distribution to beneficiaries. Income is recognised at fair value at the 
point of receipt and expenditure at the point of distribution.
 
The charity also receives donations of goods intended for sale to raise funds through its network of community shops and online. 
It is not practical to calculate a reliable fair value on receipt of the goods, therefore income is recognised at the point of sale.

Taxation

The charity is exempt from corporation tax on its charitable activities. 

Fund accounting

Unrestricted funds can be used in accordance with the charitable objectives at the discretion of the trustees.

Restricted funds can only be used for particular restricted purposes within the objects of the charity. Restrictions arise 
when specified by the donor or when funds are raised for particular restricted purposes.

Further explanation of the nature and purpose of each fund is included in the notes to the financial statements. 

Hire purchase and leasing commitments

Assets obtained under hire purchase contracts or finance leases are capitalised in the Balance Sheet. Those held under 
hire purchase contracts are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Those held under finance leases are depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives or the lease term, whichever is shorter.

The interest element of these obligations is charged to the Statement of Financial Activities over the relevant period. The 
capital element of the future payments is treated as a liability.

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a straight line basis over the 
period of the lease.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2016 
£

2015
£

Fundraising events 360,640 24,985

Shop income 1,072,869 836,438

Social enterprise 74,390 64,182

Rental income 800 12,012
                                                                                                  

1,508,699 937,617
                                                                                                  

3. other trading activities

2016 
£

2015
£

Deposit account interest 3,740 1,581

Investment income 1,474 2,094
                                                                                                  

5,214 3,675
                                                                                                  

4. Investment Income

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued

Investment income is derived from assets held in the United Kingdom

2016 
£

2015
£

Donations 2,280,066 1,764,337

Gift aid 260,498 251,360

Legacies 736 250,299

Tesco Top-up donations 1,508,636 1,750,357

Foodbank franchise fees 149,469 148,930

Donated goods 231,654 1,053,759
                                                                                                  

4,431,059 5,219,042
                                                                                                  

2. DONATIONS AND LEGACIES

Pension costs and other post-retirement benefits

The charitable company operates a defined contribution pension scheme.  Contributions payable to the charitable 
company’s pension scheme are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities in the period to which they relate.

Investments

Investments are stated at market value as at the balance sheet date. The Statement of Financial Activities include the net 
gains and losses arising on revaluation and disposal throughout the year.

Realised gains and losses

All gains and losses are taken to the statement of financial activities as they arise. Realised gains and losses on 
investments are calculated as the difference between sales proceeds and opening market value (purchase date if later).  
Unrealised gains and losses are calculated as the difference between the market value at the year end and opening 
market value (or purchase date if later). 

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
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Activity
2016 

£
2015

£

Grants Foodbank 803,308 560,628

Grants Overseas Project - 77,984

Grants Volunteer Project 15,000 -

Grants Social Enterprise 15,230 40,000
                                                                                                  

833,538 678,612
                                                                                                  

Grants received, included in the above, are as follows:

Grants for Foodbank 784,538 560,628

Grants for Overseas - 77,984

Volunteer Co-ordinator 15,000 -

Grants for Social Enterprise 15,230 40,000

Grants for Fundraising 18,770 -
                                                                                                  

833,538 678,612
                                                                                                  

Other trading activities

Purchases 8,187 7,985

Staff costs 464,603 345,847

Other operating leases 226,532 199,768

Community shop costs 91,174 63,631

Interest payable and similar charges 672 -
                                                                                                  

791,168 617,231
                                                                                                  

5. income from charitable activities

Raising donations and legacies
2016 

£
2015

£

Staff costs 286,580 242,361

Fundraising costs other 55,972 12,954

Travel 16,362 14,957

Donor relations 51,644 59,943

Sundries 21,265 9,896

Fundraising Event costs 167,105 2,680

Consultant fees 128,351 105,305
                                                                                                  

727,279 448,096
                                                                                                  

6. Raising Funds

Investment management costs

Portfolio management 781 942
                                                                                                  

Aggregate amounts 1,519,228 1,066,269
                                                                                                  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued



The Trussell Trust56

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued

2016 
£

2015
£

Staff costs 1,355,989 1,097,769

Rates and water 47,778 35,923

Telephone 13,265 9,223

Postage and stationery 31,840 25,477

PR and Marketing 48,456 55,745

Sundries 60,065 41,378

Travel costs 162,150 133,845

Living expenses 979 941

Vehicle costs 50,364 33,581

Benefits paid to members of the Foodbank Network 1,607,726 2,699,359

Garden project - 29

Foodbank Network data collection and website development fees 159,358 81,418

Foodbank Network training 10,074 12,335

Food donated 201,331 85,958

Food stock written off 10,145 -
                                                                                                  

3,759,520 4,312,981
                                                                                                  

8. DIRECT COSTS OF CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

Direct costs 
(see note 8)

£

Grant funding 
of activities 
(see note 9)

£

Support 
Costs

(see note 10) 
£

Totals

£

Foodbank 3,224,416 144,134 436,476 3,805,026

Overseas Project 65,849 257,331 39,525 362,705

Volunteer Project 55,296 - 25,892 81,188

Social Enterprise 413,959 - 567,291 981,250
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

3,759,520 401,465 1,069,184 5,230,169
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

7. Charitable Activities costs

Analysis of benefits distributed to members of the Foodbank Network

Donated goods - 921,012

Tesco donations passed to Foodbank Network 1,440,577 1,684,674

More Than Food project grants 112,792 7,000

Other donations 54,357 86,673
                                                                                                  

1,607,726 2,699,359
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2016 
£

2015
£

Foodbank 144,134 130,181

Overseas project 257,331 158,797
                                                                                                  

401,465 288,978
                                                                                                  

9. Grants Payable

The total grants paid to institutions during the year was as follows:

Other 194,393 130,181

Foundation for Social Change and Inclusion (FSCI) 207,072 158,797
                                                                                                  

401,465 288,978
                                                                                                  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued

Management
£

Finance 
£

Governance 
costs  

£

Totals
 

£

Foodbank 435,652 14 810 436,476

Overseas project 39,371 3 151 39,525

Volunteer project 25,732 2 158 25,892

Social Enterprise 558,657 148 8,486 567,291
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

1,059,412 167 9,605 1,069,184
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

10. Support Costs

Management

Foodbank 
£

Overseas
project 
£

Volunteer
project 
£

Social
Enterprise

£

2016
Total

activities 
£

2015
Total

activities 
£

Wages 290,049 29,501 16,969 151,538 488,057 179,014

Social security 26,499 2,746 1,564 13,224 44,033 14,692

Pensions 4,361 382 239 3,041 8,023 -

Hire of plant and  machinery 608 113 118 6,365 7,204 4,296

Other operating leases 4,886 910 950 51,158 57,904 51,871

Rates and water 42 8 8 443 501 5,187

Insurance 682 128 133 7,149 8,092 4,419

Light and heat 1,002 187 195 10,496 11,880 12,150

Telephone 1,062 197 206 11,119 12,584 9,858

Postage and stationery 1,789 333 348 18,735 21,205 22,076

Advertising 2,610 486 511 27,331 30,938 16,309

Sundries 6,878 1,281 1,332 72,008 81,499 53,971

Computer and software costs 3,299 615 640 34,537 39,091 37,895

Consultancy and professional fees 60,065 1,692 1,692 44,792 108,241 59,084

Training 1,490 278 290 15,600 17,658 25,866

Donations 252 47 49 2,644 2,992 2,563

Premises expenses 383 71 75 4,012 4,541 25,798

Amortisation of intangible assets 8,640 - - - 8,640 8,640

Depreciation of tangible assets 21,055 396 413 83,815 105,679 77,761

Loss on sale of tangible fixed assets - - - 650 650 (705)
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

435,652 39,371 25,732 558,657 1,059,412 610,745
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Activity
Management     Wages and social security - Staff time occupied by activity staff
Finance and Governance costs  Floor area

Support costs, included in the above, are as follows:
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Finance

Foodbank 
£

Overseas
project 
£

Volunteer
project 
£

Social
Enterprise

£

2016
Total

activities 
£

2015
Total

activities 
£

Bank charges 14 3 2 148 167 -
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Governance costs

Foodbank 
£

Overseas
project 
£

Volunteer
project 
£

Social
Enterprise

£

2016
Total

activities 
£

2015
Total

activities 
£

Auditors’ remuneration 478 89 93 5,005 5,665 4,791

Trustee costs 156 29 31 1,638 1,854 -

Accountancy and legal fees 176 33 34 1,843 2,086 -
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

810 151 158 8,486 9,605 4,791
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

2016
£

2015
£

Auditors’ remuneration 5,665 4,791

Depreciation - owned assets 105,679 77,761

Hire of plant and machinery 7,204 4,296

Other operating leases 284,436 251,639

Deficit\(surplus) on disposal of fixed assets 650 (705)

Computer software amortisation 8,640 8,640
                                                                                                  

11. Net income (expenditure)
Net income/(expenditure) is stated after charging/(crediting):

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued

2016  
£

2015
£

Wages and salaries 2,430,832 1,733,964

Social security costs 180,562 145,719

Other pension costs 35,891 -
                                                                                                  

2,647,285 1,879,683
                                                                                                  

13. Staff Costs

The average monthly number of full time equivalent employees during the year as follows:

2016  2015

Charitable 82 60

Fundraising 9 8

PR 7 5

Support 7 6
                                                                                                  

105 79
                                                                                                  

No employees received emoluments in excess of £60,000

Staff are employed in all areas of The Trussell Trust’s work, including the community shops and associated supporting 
activity, to enable the charity to meet its responsibilities. The lowest rate of pay is aligned to the living wage as set by the 
Living Wage Foundation and there is currently an upper limit of 4 times this rate, although the trustees will continue to 
review this position. David McAuley, Chief Executive Officer of The Trussell Trust, is the highest paid staff member . This 
remuneration, including employer pension contributions, was £59,251 before tax for the year to 31 March 2016 (2015: 
£55,688).

12. TRUSTEES’ REMUNERATION & BENEFITS and related party transactions

During the year, payments of £14,796 including VAT (2015: £12,360) were made to Chris Mould Limited, a company 
of which Mr C Mould, director and trustee of The Trussell Trust, is a director. At the year end £4,500 was owing to the 
company for work in January to March 2016 (2015: £3,000 relating to January to March 2015). The Memorandum and 
Articles of Association of the charitable company permit payments to trustees where certain criteria are met.

Trustees’ expenses 

During the year three trustees were reimbursed out of pocket expenses totalling £3,986 (2015: three trustees, expenses 
totalling £3,029); in addition £83 was owing to one trustee at the year end. These expenses relate primarily to travel costs 
incurred on behalf of the charity.

Key Management Personnel

The key management personnel of the charity comprise the trustees, the Chief Executive Officer, and the Company 
Secretary. The total employee benefits of the key management personnel of the charity were £99,635 (2015: £93,448). 
This does not include remuneration for trustees, all of which is reported as per note 12. 
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2015
Unrestricted

funds
£

2015
Restricted

funds
£

2015
Total

funds
£

INCOME AND ENDOWMENTS FROM

Donations and legacies 2,658,671 2,560,371 5,219,042

Charitable activities

Foodbank 46,137 514,491 560,628

Overseas project - 77,984 77,984

Social Enterprise - 40,000 40,000

Other trading activities 927,475 10,142 937,617

Investment income 3,651 24 3,675
                                                                                                                                                   

Total 3,635,934 3,203,012 6,838,946
                                                                                                                                                   

EXPENDITURE ON

Raising funds 1,040,171 26,098 1,066,269

Charitable activities

Foodbank 1,285,310 2,994,520 4,279,830

Overseas project 170,910 54,505 225,415

Volunteer project 22,296 41,999 64,295

Social Enterprise 632,761 15,194 647,955
                                                                                                                                                   

Total 3,151,448 3,132,316 6,283,764
                                                                                                                                                   

Net gains/(losses) on investments 3,124 - 3,124
                                                                                                                                                   

NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) 487,610 70,696 558,306

Transfers between funds (109,041) 109,041 -
                                                                                                                                                   

Net movement in funds 378,569 179,737 558,306

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS

Total funds brought forward 630,882 321,893 952,775
                                                                                                                                                

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD 1,009,451 501,630 1,511,081
                                                                                                                                                   

14. COMPARATIVES FOR THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued

Computer 
software
£

COST

At 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 43,200
                                                 

AMORTISATION

At 1 April 2015 17,280

Charge for year 8,640
                                                 

At 31 March 2016 25,920
                                                 

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 March 2016 17,280
                                                

At 31 March 2015 25,920
                                                 

15. Intangible fixed assets

Costs capitalised relate to the Foodbank Data Collection system.
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16. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Short

leasehold
£

Fixtures and 
fittings

£

Motor
vehicles 
£

Computer 
equipment 

£
Totals 

£

COST

At 1 April 2015 331,252 51,577 13,561 67,883 464,273

Additions 180,049 21,127 31,542 9,917 242,635

Disposals - - (5,902) - (5,902)
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

At 31 March 2016 511,301 72,704 39,201 77,800 701,006
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

DEPRECIATION

At 1 April 2015 137,063 22,524 9,922 31,452 200,961

Charge for year 82,422 7,588 8,252 7,417 105,679

Eliminated on disposal - - (3,700) - (3,700)
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

At 31 March 2016 219,485 30,112 14,474 38,869 302,940
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 March 2016 291,816 42,592 24,727 38,931 398,066
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

At 31 March 2015 194,189 29,053 3,639 36,431 263,312
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

Fixed assets, included in the above, which are held under hire purchase contracts are as follows:
Motor 

vehicles
£

COST

At 1 April 2015 9,061

Transfer to ownership (9,061)
                                                 

At 31 March 2016 -
                                                 

DEPRECIATION

At 1 April 2015 5,238

Transfer to ownership (5,238)
                                                 

At 31 March 2016 -
                                                 

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 March 2016 -
                                                

At 31 March 2015 3,823
                                                 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued



The Trussell Trust64

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued

Listed
investments

£

MARKET VALUE

At 1 April 2015 76,081

Additions 22,813

Disposals (23,594)

Revaluations (3,970)
                                                 

At 31 March 2016 71,330
                                                 

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 March 2016 71,330
                                                 

At 31 March 2015 76,081
                                                 

2016 2015

£ £

Analysis of investments by type:

Equities 54,917 62,636

Fixed interest securities - -

Cash held within the investment portfolio 16,414 13,445
                                                                                                  

71,331 76,081
                                                                                                  

Geographical analysis of investments:

Held inside the United Kingdom 36,562 38,856

Held outside the United Kingdom 34,769 37,225
                                                                                                

71,331 76,081
                                                                                                  

17. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
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The trustees consider that the following investment holdings are material (representing more than 5% of the total 
portfolio value):

Units
Held

Market 
Value

£

Holding

Rathbone Unit Trust Management Ethical Bond 11,000 10,212

EdenTree Investment Management Amity Balanced For Charities A Inc 9,200 9,936

The Renewables Infrastructure Grp Ord NPV 9,500 9,690

Worldwide Healthcare Trust Ordinary GBP0.25 800 13,720

Lazard Global Active Funds Listed Infrastructure 8,100 11,358

17. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS - continued

2016
£

2015
£

Trade debtors 6,205 1,756

Other debtors 40,837 56,612

VAT 14,711 19,740

Prepayments and accrued income 120,532 306,261
                                                                                                  

182,285 384,369
                                                                                                  

19. DEBTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2016
£

2015
£

Food stocks 84,403 69,410
                                                                                                  

18. Stocks

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
2016 

£
2015 

£

Hire purchase (see note 22) - 1,803

Trade creditors 84,641 30,302

Social security and other taxes 50,918 44,476

Other creditors 61,597 755,679

Credit card 8,521 7,942

Deferred income (see below) 60,872 153,769

Accrued expenses 27,175 66,143
                                                                                                  

293,724 1,060,114
                                                                                                  

Brought forward 153,769 60,561

Amount released to incoming resources (153,769) (60,561)

Amount deferred at year end 60,872 153,769
                                                                                                  

60,872 153,769
                                                                                                  

Analysis of Other Creditors

Donations distributed to beneficiaries after year end 44,533 30,551

Tesco top up distributed to beneficiaries after year end 17,064 725,128
                                                                                                  

61,597 755,679
                                                                                                  

2016 
£

2015 
£

Hire purchase (see note 22) - 713

Other creditors - unsecured loan 164,672 29,000
                                                                                                  

164,672 29,713
                                                                                                  

21. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued



Annual Report and Accounts - 31 March 2016     67

2016  
£

2015
£

Hire purchase contracts:

Net obligations repayable:

Within one year - 1,803

Between one and five years - 713
                                                                                                  

- 2,516
                                                                                                  

22. OBLIGATIONS UNDER HIRE PURCHASE CONTRACTS AND LEASES

2016  
£

2015
£

2016  
£

2015
£

Expiring:

Within one year 31,855 - - 7,527

Between one and five years 158,367 165,356 17,168 -

In more than five years 128,985 54,200 - -
                                                                                                                                                                                                  

319,207 219,556 17,168 7,527
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

The following operating lease payments are committed to be paid within one year:
Land and buildings   Other operating leases

2016 
£

2015 
£

Provisions 40,000 30,000
                                                                                                  

23. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

Unrestricted
fund

£

Restricted
fund

£

2016
Total

funds  
£

2015
Total

funds
£

Fixed assets 415,346 - 415,346 289,232

Investments 71,330 - 71,330 76,081

Current assets 1,058,810 489,134 1,547,944 2,265,595

Current liabilities (293,724) - (293,724) (1,060,114)

Long term liabilities (164,672) - (164,672) (29,713)

Provision for liabilities (40,000) - (40,000) (30,000)
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

1,047,090 489,134 1,536,224 1,511,081
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

24. ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS

Provisions have been made for the expected dilapidation costs on the property leases held by the charity.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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25. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS

At 1 April 
2015

£

Net
movement in

funds 
£

Transfers
between

funds
£

At 31 March 
2016 

£

Unrestricted funds

General fund 1,009,451 365,868 (328,229) 1,047,090
                                                                                                                                                                                                

Restricted funds

Foodbank Network - (317,299) 317,299 -

House of Rachel Fund 1,899 (1,899) - -

Foodbank Network Wales - (83,990) 83,990 -

Salisbury Foodbank 42,694 (35,887) - 6,807

Foodbank Network London - (4,408) 4,408 -

Foodbank Network Scotland - 7,554 (7,554) -

Volunteer Co-ordinator 1,835 (23,893) 22,058 -

Bulgaria Summer Camp 2,001 (3,320) 1,319 -

Bulgaria House of Opportunity - Sofia (1,421) 1,421 - -

Bulgaria Christmas Boxes 5,009 (417) - 4,592

Big Lottery Fund grant (Wales) 914 - (914) -

Charlotte Fund 133 (69) - 64

Crack UK Hunger - 2,546 (2,546) -

Foodbank Network North West 490 (8,301) 7,811 -

J P Getty Grant 725 (1,164) 439 -

Brent Foodbank - 618 - 618

Asda Grant 678 (39,778) 39,100 -

Secret Santa appeal 303 - (303) -

London Catalyst 6,604 5,051 - 11,655

Martin Lewis hub trial 74,068 (60,068) (14,000) -

Big Lottery Fund grant (Scotland) 17,704 (39,865) 16,937 (5,224)

More Than Food - 1,240 - 1,240

Christmas hampers Salisbury Foodbank - 294 - 294

Comic Relief 5,548 (7,742) - (2,194)

SHINE 8,005 (6,507) - 1,498

Barons’ Charter 40,010 - (40,010) -

Pacey Bryndberg 27,431 (19,346) - 8,085

FSCI Balkans 50,000 179,296 - 229,296

Oxfam/Unilever 2015 101,000 (101,426) 426 -

UK charity projects only 116,000 - (116,000) -

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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At 1 April 
2015

£

Net
movement in

funds 
£

Transfers
between

funds
£

At 31 March 
2016 

£

City Bridge Trust 2013 - (19,082) 19,082 -

Foodbank Network South West - 1,480 (1,480) -

Foodbank Network Yorks & Humber - 3,250 (3,250) -

Innocent Foundation - 6,320 - 6,320

Foodbank Network East Midlands - (1,417) 1,417 -

College of Matrons - 6,879 - 6,879

Coventry Foodbank - 15,697 - 15,697

British Gas Energy Trust - 106,677 - 106,677

Eat Well Spend Less - 23,413 - 23,413

Coventry Foodbank Knott Family Trust - 26 - 26

Coventry Foodbank Warehouse Management - 1,437 - 1,437

Coventry Foodbank Restart Project - 3,743 - 3,743

Coventry Foodbank food and goods for distribution - 1,250 - 1,250

Rotary VTT - 64,620 - 64,620

London Foodbank Development Fund - 2,341 - 2,341
                                                                                                                                                                                                

501,630 (340,725) 328,229 489,134

                                                                                                                                                                                                   

1,511,081 25,143 - 1,536,224
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued
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25. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS - continued

Incoming
resources

£

Resources
expended

£

Gain and
losses 

£

Movement in
funds

£

Unrestricted funds

General fund 3,908,359 (3,538,521) (3,970) 365,868
                                                                                                                                                                                                

Restricted funds

Foodbank Network 82,234 (399,533) - (317,299)

Pears Foundation 50,001 (50,001) - -

House of Rachel Fund 228 (2,127) - (1,899)

Foodbank Network Wales 4,745 (88,735) - (83,990)

Salisbury Foodbank 16,484 (52,371) - (35,887)

Chris Mould support 1,500 (1,500) - -

Foodbank Network London 39,898 (44,306) - (4,408)

Foodbank Network Scotland 20,830 (13,276) - 7,554

Volunteer Co-ordinator 15,000 (38,893) - (23,893)

Bulgaria House of Opportunity programme general 5 (5) - -

Bulgaria Summer Camp 6,610 (9,930) - (3,320)

Bulgaria House of Opportunity - Sofia 1,421 - - 1,421

Bulgaria Christmas Boxes 18,087 (18, 504) - (417)

Charlotte Fund 1,469 (1,538) - (69)

Crack UK Hunger 46 2,500 - 2,546

Foodbank Network North West 399 (8,700) - (8,301)

J P Getty 10,000 (11,164) - (1,164)

Brent Foodbank 45,682 (45,064) - 618

Asda Grant 79,874 (119,652) - (39,778)

London Catalyst 18,769 (13,718) - 5,051

Martin Lewis Hub Trial - (60,068) - (60,068)

Big Lottery Fund grant (Scotland) 173,395 (213,260) - (39,865)

More Than Food 15,466 (14,226) - 1,240

Christmas hampers Salisbury Foodbank 325 (31) - 294

Comic Relief 94,714 (102,456) - (7,742)

SHINE (1) (6,506) - (6,507)

Pacey Bryndberg - (19,346) - (19,346)

FSCI Balkans 262,521 (83,225) - 179,296

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued

Net movement in funds, included in the above are as follows:
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Incoming
resources

£

Resources
expended

£

Gain and
losses 

£

Movement in
funds

£

Oxfam/Unilever 2015 1,449 (102,875) - (101,426)

City Bridge Trust 2013 64,999 (84,081) - (19,082)

Tesco Top Up 1,440,577 (1,440,577) - -

Foodbank Network South West 1,480 - - 1,480

Foodbank Network Yorks & Humber 3,250 - - 3,250

Innocent Foundation 28,558 (22,238) - 6,320

Foodbank Network East Midlands 600 (2,017) - (1,417)

College of Matrons 10,155 (3,276) - 6,879

Coventry Foodbank 43,054 (27,357) - 15,697

British Gas Energy Trust 126,776 (20,099) - 106,677

Eat Well Spend Less 26,277 (2,864) - 23,413

Coventry Foodbank Knott Family Trust 2,500 (2,474) - 26

Coventry Foodbank Warehouse Management 9,193 (7,756) - 1,437

Coventry Foodbank Restart Project 9,998 (6,255) - 3,743

Coventry Foobank food and goods for distribution 1,400 (150) - 1,250

Rotary VTT 64,620 - - 64,620

London Foodbank Development Fund 75,563 (73,222) - 2,341
                                                                                                                                                                                                

2,870,151 (3,210,876) - (340,725)

                                                                                                                                                                                                   

TOTAL FUNDS 6,778,510 (6,749,397) (3,970) 25,143
                                                                                                                                                                                                    

25. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS - continued

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued
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25. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS - continued

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued

Restricted funds in deficit all have sufficient funding in 2016/17 to cover any shortfalls. Any transfers from restricted to 
unrestricted funds relate to funds on which restrictions have been satisfied.

Foodbank Network

For the support and development of the Foodbank Network.

House of Rachel

For the establishment and support of a House of Opportunity on the Black Sea coast in Bulgaria.

Foodbank Network Wales

For the support and expansion of the Foodbank Network in Wales, including the salary and costs of the foodbank 
regional development team.

Salisbury Foodbank

For the support of Salisbury Foodbank, including salary costs of the foodbank manager.

Chris Mould support

Funds received for the support of Chris Mould in his role at the The Trussell Trust.

Foodbank Network London

For the support and expansion of the Foodbank Network in London, including the salary and costs of the foodbank 
regional development team.

Foodbank Network Scotland

For the support and expansion of the Foodbank Network in Scotland, including the salary and costs of the foodbank 
regional development team.

Foodbank Network North West

For the support and expansion of the Foodbank Network in the North West of England and the North East of England, 
including the salary and costs of the foodbank regional development team. This fund included funding received from 
Unilever via Oxfam and from the Joseph Rank Trust.

Foodbank Network South West

Funding received for use on foodbank costs within the South West of England only.

Volunteer Co-Ordinator

For the support of the Volunteer Co-Ordinator and Volunteer Co-Ordinator’s Assistant, including salary costs, or projects 
within the volunteering department.
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Bulgaria Summer Camp

For the support of summer camps run for the benefit of disadvantaged children and young people in Bulgaria, including 
the football project at a youth prison.

Bulgaria House of Opportunity - Sofia

For the establishment and support of a House of Opportunity in Sofia, Bulgaria. 

Bulgaria Christmas Boxes

For the operation of the Christmas box project, which delivers gifts to people in Bulgaria at Christmas time.

Bulgaria House of Opportunity programme general

For the establishment and support of the House of Opportunity programme in Bulgaria.

Bulgaria Projects

For the support of projects based in Bulgaria.

Big Lottery Fund grant (Wales)

Funding received from the Big Lottery Fund Wales for the support and expansion of the Foodbank Network in Wales, 
including the salary and costs of the foodbank regional development team.

Charlotte Fund

For the support of Charlotte, an individual known to The Trussell Trust.

Crack UK Hunger

For the support of member organisations of The Trussell Trust’s Foodbank Network to enable them to improve or extend 
the services they offer.

Tesco (grant) - Foodbank Network

Funds received from Tesco from Tesco Stores Limited for some development costs of the Foodbank Network.

Asda (grant) - Foodbank Network

Funding received from the Asda Foundation for the support of salary costs of the foodbank regional development team 
in the Midlands and North of England.

City Bridge

Funds received from the City Bridge Trust for a share of the salary costs of the foodbank regional development team.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued
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25. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS - continued

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued

Brent Foodbank

For the support of Brent Foodbank, including salary costs of the foodbank manager.

Secret Santa toys appeal

Funds raised through an appeal in conjunction with the People newspaper intended to provide toys at Christmas time 
through foodbanks to those who might otherwise go without.

Pears Foundation

For the costs of key personnel within the Foodbank Network, primarily salary, travel and other cost of the Foodbank 
Network director.

UK charity projects only

Funding received for use within the UK only.

J P Getty

Funding received from the J P Getty jnr Charitable Trust for the development of the furniture upcycling project, including 
the salary costs of project staff.

Mirror Crack UK Hunger

Funds raised through an appeal in conjunction with the Mirror newspaper for the support of member organisations of 
The Trussell Trust’s Foodbank Network to enable them to improve or extend the services that they offer.

City Bridge Trust 2013

Funding received from the City Bridge Trust for a share of the salary costs of the foodbank regional development team.

Tesco (top up)

Funding received from Tesco Stores Limited as a result of the neighbourhood food collections. At present the charity 
chooses to share this funding with member organisations of The Trussell Trust’s Foodbank Network.

London Catalyst

Funding received from London Catalyst for the salary and costs of the London partnership co ordinator. 

Martin Lewis Hub Trial

Funding received from the Martin Lewis Charitable Foundation for the trial provision of financial triage within foodbanks.

Big Lottery Fund grant (Scotland)

Funding received from the Big Lottery Fund Scotland for the support and expansion of the Foodbank Network in Scotland 
including the salary and costs of the foodbank regional development team.
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More Than Food

For the support of the charity’s ‘More Than Food’ projects which extends the support available within foodbanks.

Christmas hampers Salisbury Foodbank

For the provision of hampers at Christmas time to selected clients of Salisbury Foodbank. 

Comic Relief

Funding received from Comic Relief for the support of the Foodbank Network and More Than Food projects, including a 
share of the salary and costs of the foodbank regional development team and More Than Food project team.

SHINE

Funding received on the closure of Shine in the Community for the purpose of continuing a money education 
programme in South Wiltshire, in accordance with SHINE’s charitable objects.

Barons’ Charter

For the costs of the Barons’ Charter project during 2015.

Foodbank Network South East

Funding received for use on foodbank costs within the South East of England only.

Pacey Bryndberg

Funding received from the Doris Pacey Charitable Foundation and the Dr Michael and Anna Bryndberg Charitable 
Foundation for the support of an early years education programme operated by the charity’s Bulgarian partners, FSCI.

FSCI Balkans

For the expansion of the work carried out by the charity’s Bulgarian partners, FSCI, into other countries in the Balkans.

Oxfam/Unilever 2015

Funds received from Unilever via an Oxfam grants programme for the support of the Foodbank Network and the Eat Well 
Spend Less course.

Foodbank Network Yorks & Humber

Donations received by the charity for use on foodbank costs within the region of Yorkshire and Humberside.

Innocent Foundation

Grant from the Innocent Foundation to support the costs of the Holiday Clubs programme.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued
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Foodbank Network East Midlands
 
Donations received by the charity for use on foodbank costs within the region of the East Midlands.

College of Matrons

Grant received from the College of Matrons towards the costs of social enterprise and the foodbank in Salisbury.

Coventry Foodbank

Donations received to support the work of Coventry Foodbank.

British Gas Energy Trust

Grant from British Gas Energy Trust to support the work of the Energy Bank programme.

Eat Well Spend Less

Donations towards the costs of operating the Eat Well Spend Less programme.

Coventry Foodbank Knott Family Trust

Grant from the James Knott Family Trust for Coventry Foodbank.

Coventry Foodbank Warehouse Management

Donations towards the management of the warehouse at Coventry Foodbank.

Coventry Foodbank Restart Project

Donations towards Coventry Foodbank’s Restart programme.

Coventry Foodbank food and goods for distribution

Donations given to Coventry Foodbank to enable purchase of food or other goods for distribution to clients as needed.

Rotary VTT

Funds towards the setup and running of social enterprises in Bulgaria, in a joint project with Rotary. 

London Foodbank Development Fund

Funding received from a foundation which wishes to remain anonymous for the support of member organisations of the 
Trussell Trust’s Foodbank Network within London to enable them to improve or extend the services that they offer.

25. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS - continued

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016 continued
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26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
During the year, grants of £189,234 (2015: £145,433) were paid to The Foundation for Social Change and Inclusion (FSCI), 
an entity set up in Bulgaria with similar control. In addition, further costs of £17,839 (2015: £13,365) incurred by FSCI for 
goods and services originating in the United Kingdom, including travel and consultancy costs for the expansion of FSCI 
projects across the Balkans, were paid for by The Trussell Trust on behalf of FSCI.

During the year, grants of £41,350 (2015: £nil) were paid to Hammersmith and Fulham Foodbank, a member of The Trussell 
Trust network with similar control. The grants relate primarily to the delivery of More Than Food projects. Hammersmith 
and Fulham Foodbank paid its annual membership fee of £360 including VAT (2015: £360 including VAT) to The Trussell Trust.

Also during the year, a grant of £6,000 (2015: £nil) was paid to Coventry Central Foodbank in April 2015 relating to the 
delivery of More Than Food projects. Subsequently, The Trussell Trust took over the assets and operations of Coventry 
Central Foodbank in January 2016 to fulfil a shared vision of serving the community of Coventry.

The wife of the CEO is also employed by the charity. Her remuneration, including employer pension contributions, was 
£22,442 before tax for the year (2015: £20,995)

The trustees and key management personal of the charity donated a combined total of £6,022 before gift aid to the 
charity in the year (2015: £5,190).

27. ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY
The charitable company is not under the control of another entity or any one individual.

28. FIRST YEAR ADOPTION
Transitional relief
On transition to FRS 102, the charity has taken advantage of the following transitional relief for the year ended 31 March 
2015:

Notes
UK GAAP

£

Effect of
transition to 

FRS 102 
£

FRS 102 
£

INCOME FROM

Donations and legacies 5,180,641 38,401 5,219,042

Charitable activities 678,612 - 678,612

Other trading activities 937,617 - 937,617

Investment income 3,675 - 3,675
                                                                                                                                                   

Total 6,800,545 38,041 6,838,946
                                                                                                                                                   

EXPENDITURE ON

Raising funds 1,066,269 - 1,066,269

Charitable activities 5,212,704 4,791 5,217,495

Obsolete Governance costs 4,791 (4,791) -
                                                                                                                                                   

Total 6,283,764 - 6,283,764
                                                                                                                                                   

Net gains/(losses) on investments 3,124 - 3,124
                                                                                                                                                   

NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) 519,905 38,401 558,306
                                                                                                                                                   

RECONCILIATION OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2015
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UK GAAP
£

Effect of
transition to 

FRS 102 
£

FRS 102 
£

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets 34,560 - 34,560

Tangible assets 286,381 - 286,381

Investments 73,899 - 73,899
                                                                                                                                                   

394,840 - 394,840
                                                                                                                                                   

CURRENT ASSETS

Stocks - 31,009 31,009

Debtors 119,018 - 119,018

Prepayments and accrued income 116,636 - 116,636

Cash at bank 490,502 - 490,502
                                                                                                                                                   

726,156 31,009 757,165

CREDITORS

Amounts falling due within one year (171,685) - (171,685)

                                                                                                                                                   

NET CURRENT ASSETS 554,471 31,009 585,480
                                                                                                                                                   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 949,311 31,009 980,320

CREDITORS

Amounts falling due after more than one year (2,545) - (2,545)

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES (25,000) - (25,000)

                                                                                                                                                   

921,766 31,009 952,775
                                                                                                                                                

FUNDS

Unrestricted funds 599,873 - 630,882

Restricted funds 321,893 31,009 321,893
                                                                                                                                                   

TOTAL FUNDS 921,766 31,009 952,775
                                                                                                                                                   

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS
AT 1 APRIL 2014
(DATE OF TRANSITION TO FRS 102)
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UK GAAP
£

Effect of transition 
to FRS 102 
£

FRS 102 
£

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets 25,920 - 25,920

Tangible assets 263,312 - 263,312

Investments 76,081 - 76,081
                                                                                                                                                   

365,313 - 365,313
                                                                                                                                                   

CURRENT ASSETS

Stocks - 69,410 69,410

Debtors 384,369 - 384,369

Cash at bank 1,811,816 - 1,811,816
                                                                                                                                                   

2,196,185 69,410 2,265,595

CREDITORS

Amounts falling due within one year (1,060,114) - (1,060,114)
                                                                                                                                                   

NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,136,071 69,410 1,205,481
                                                                                                                                                   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,501,384 69,410 1,570,794

CREDITORS

Amounts falling due after more than one year (29,713) - (29,713)

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES (30,000) - (30,000)
                                                                                                                                                   

NET ASSETS 1,441,671 69,410 1,511,081
                                                                                                                                                

FUNDS

Unrestricted funds 940,041 69,410 1,009,451

Restricted funds 501,630 - 501,630
                                                                                                                                                   

TOTAL FUNDS 1,441,671 69,410 1,511,081
                                                                                                                                                   

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS
AT 31 MARCH 2015

Notes to the reconciliation of funds
In preparing the 2016 accounts, the trustees have considered whether in applying the accounting policies required by FRS 
102 and the Charities SORP FRS 102 the restatement of comparative items was required.

At the date of transition in applying the requirement to recognise donated goods held by the charity for distribution to its 
beneficiaries as stock, with the corresponding income recognised within donations and measured at its fair value and in 
the reporting period in which the stocks are distributed, they are recognised as an expense and appropriately analysed as 
expenditure in the SoFA at the point of distribution, has resulted in stock being recognised on the balance sheet.

No other restatements were required. In accordance with the requirements of FRS 102 a reconciliation of opening balances is provided. 
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